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WELCOME
TO WILLOW PARK CHURCH

On behalf of Willow Park Church, I want to welcome 
you to the 2019 BCMB Convention! 

For decades, our passion at Willow Park Church has 
been to see people connecting with the life-changing 
power of Jesus. The only hope for British Columbia is 
the gospel of Jesus. 

During this Convention, we look forward to hearing 
of the effective work that is taking place in our 
churches and communities, while recognizing the 
reality of opposition.  

Let’s be encouraged as we gather as leaders and 
delegates and experience His transforming power. 
As we gather together, may Christ come and fill us 
with His love and with a deeper passion for sharing 
the gospel. 

We hope you feel like you’re at home here in Kelowna. 
Our staff is ready to host you. Please let us know of 
anything you might need. 

Welcome to Kelowna! 

In Christ, 

Phil Collins 
Senior Pastor



5

BCMB CONVENTION 2019

OPEN DOORS & ADVERSARIES

Convention Agenda

Friday, April 26, 2019

1:00 PM Pastor’s Equipping Time

4:00 PM Exhibits Open

5:30 PM Dinner 

7:00 PM  Celebration Service  
  Worship, testimonies,   
                               message from Rob Thiessen 

Saturday, April 27, 2019

8:00 AM Convention Registration  

  Continental Breakfast

8:30 AM Prayer & Worship

   Welcome

  Moderator’s Report

10:00 AM Coffee Break 
  Exhibits Open 

  Recommendations &  

    Nominations

  Stewardship Advisory  

    Committee 

  Financial Statements

  CCMBC

  Columbia Bible College

12:00 PM  Lunch 
  Exhibits Open 

1:00 PM MB Biblical Seminary

  Pastoral Ministries   

    Committee

  Multiply

  BCMB Bible Camp   

    Society

2:45 PM Voting Results & Closing  

    Remarks 

6:00 PM Evening Prayer, Worship  

    and Dinner at   

    Metro Community  

    Church

"A wide door for effective work 
has opened to me, and there 
are many adversaries."  1 Cor. 16:9

Open Doors 
Adversaries&
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Pray, Joe
by Joe Haynes
Lead Pastor, Beacon Church 

“Joe, pray. Pray an hour a day, a day a month, a 
week every year. Pray, Joe.”

     Those words came from a godly pastor by the 
name of Fred Eaton, who is now serving at Christ 
City Church in Kitsilano. 
     Beacon Church, the faith community my wife, 
Heather, and I planted in Victoria, BC had been 
growing by 10 to 15 percent every year. But, since 
the congregation totalled only about 38 in the 
summer of 2017, that meant three or four people 
per year. That wasn’t the kind of fruit Jesus was 
referring to in Luke 10:2. And the enthusiastic zeal 
we felt in the first couple of years had matured into 
white-knuckled resolve not to give up. 
     Then, on August 18th, 2017, with Fred’s voice still 
ringing in my ear, I thought to myself, “I might as 
well pray.” Not a quick prayer here or there, but 

regular prayer scheduled in my calendar.
     I didn’t know what to pray about. So, I wrote 
down the names of every one of the 38 people 
I considered “repeat attenders” at Beacon and I 
started praying for them. About 15 minutes into 
that, I started praying for their unsaved loved ones. 
That took maybe five minutes. 
     I added 10 blank lines to my prayer list and with 
gigantic faith, asked God to fill each of those 10 
spaces with a name of another regular attender 
at Beacon Church by the end of 2017. Hey, I was 
praying to the God of the Universe, who raised 
Christ the Lord from death; praying in the name 
of the One who commanded His disciples to “pray 
earnestly to the Lord of the harvest to send out 
laborers into His harvest” (Luke 10:2)! Surely, He 
could do this; I just wasn’t sure He would. 

“...the enthusiastic zeal we felt 
in the first couple of years had 
matured into white-knuckled 
resolve not to give up.”
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     By September 15, those 10 blank spaces on my 
prayer list were filled by newcomers to the church. 
I wasn’t sure if this was a fluke or not, so I asked 
God (with unremarkable faith) for 10 more regular 
attenders by the end of 2017. 
     By January 1, 2018, those 10 spaces were filled. 
I kept praying. I have to admit, not quite every 
day—some weeks only twice or three times. But I 
kept on praying. The church now had 58 regular 
attenders. On Sunday mornings it began to feel 
like something was happening. Energy. Synergy. 
Critical mass. And I kept praying.
     It dawned on me sometime early in 2018 
(because I’m apparently a slow learner) that the 
answers to my prayers were not what I was most 
grateful for. I was learning to enjoy spending 
time in communion with Jesus. I would begin by 
reading two or three chapters of Scripture in my 
through-the-Bible-in-a-year plan, often consulting 
the notes in The Gospel Transformation Study 
Bible, and then praying the things that stood out 
to me for the growing number of regular attenders 
in our church. 

     I would plead with my beloved Saviour to save 
the souls of so many loved ones connected to the 
people of Beacon Church, whose names I now 
knew by heart. I began to feel like I was invested 
personally in the lives of my flock as I prayed for 
them and for the things in life each one was going 
through. And I knew—really knew—that Jesus loved 
them all and was moving me to draw on His love 
and seek His glory. And I loved Him more for letting 
me learn from Him and spend this time with Him.

     God kept on answering my prayers for more 
regular attenders, so I kept having to create more 
blank spaces on my prayer list. I was seeing prayers 
answered. I look at those words I just typed and 
still can’t believe it. I mean, I grew up Baptist. 
I’m a Calvinist. Who knew ministry could be this 
exciting? Prayer works?! 
     When there were 61 names on my prayer list, I 
added 20 blank spaces, asking God to fill them by 
the end of 2018. By March 25, however, I had to add 
20 more spaces. On October 14, I had to add 20 
more. Those blank spaces are lives God is touching 
in answer to prayer! 
     He is also working in the hearts of our 
congregation’s unsaved loved ones: 

 ▶ An estranged daughter phoned her mom for 
the first time in a long time. 

 ▶ A rebellious son admitted he still believes in 
Jesus. 

 ▶ An adult atheist daughter suggested the 
family go out and sing traditional Christmas 
carols in their neighbourhood. 

 ▶ A young girl who resisted going to church 
softened her heart and thanked me for 
preaching what the Bible really says. 

 ▶ A lonely, bitter old man accepted a dinner 
invitation from new friends after church. 

 ▶ My adopted sons’ unsaved grandfather 
thanked me for a sermon and said that it really 
spoke to him. 

 ▶ An unsaved teenager told his dad that he loves 
to know he’s praying for him. 

     I’m beginning to see that as I pray, Jesus is 
writing down more names on my heart. He never 
changed. But through prayer, He’s changing me. 
The harvest is plentiful, so pray earnestly.

“...the answers to my prayers 
were not what I was most 
grateful for. I was learning 
to enjoy spending time in 
communion with Jesus.”
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BCMB Common 
Understandings

Jesus at the Centre of Everything 
Colossians 1:17

We see ourselves first and foremost as 
followers of Jesus Christ. We are a people 
redeemed and justified by Christ’s atoning 
death and victorious resurrection. We now 
seek to put His life and teaching at the 
centre of our lives as we:

. read the Bible, illuminated by Jesus’ life 
and work

• discern our ethics through the lens of 
Jesus’ example

• worship God, radiantly revealed in Jesus 
Christ

• experience community created by Jesus’ 
indwelling Spirit

• live out God’s gospel mission with Jesus’ 
authority and power

Preaching and Discipleship Shaped 
by Scripture 
Psalm 119:105, 2 Timothy 3:16-17, 4:2

God’s Word, the Bible, is our functional 
and final authority for faith and life. We 
read, understand and obey the Bible in 
the context of community. We value both 
the ministry of preaching and teaching 
the scripture, as well as the participation 
of each member of the community as we 
search the scriptures to discern God’s will 
and leading together.  Our churches place 
a high value on equipping people to think 
biblically about our world.

Community Formed by the Holy Spirit 
 John 16, 1 Corinthians 12, Galatians 5

Our common experience of the living Spirit 
of Jesus filling our lives, and our gatherings, 
generates the holy character of Jesus 
within us and motivates us to live lives of 
worship and mission. Our prayer life is an 
essential link by which the Lordship of 
Christ and leading of the Spirit is cultivated. 
The gifts and fruit of the Spirit at work in 
our lives build up the church, empower us 
in mission, and allow us to live in gracious 
accountability. 
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The statement below describes the ethos and priorities that we, as Mennonite 
Brethren churches in British Columbia, share and to which we aspire. It is 
intended to encourage, guide, and inspire one another to greater faithfulness and 
effectiveness, and promote understanding for those who are new to our fellowship. 

Our Mennonite Brethren Confession of Faith remains the authorized and 
comprehensive doctrinal foundation upon which these understandings are built. 

A Church that is on Mission 
Genesis 12:1-3, Matthew 28:18-20, Acts 1:8

God, who came into this world to seek 
and to save the lost and to set the captives 
free, is now sending His people out with 
the same mission. Through prayer we 
receive power and guidance to participate 
in God’s redemptive mission. Both locally 
and globally, we empower and support one 
another to preach and live the gospel of 
Jesus Christ. 

A Church that Reflects Jesus 
Transforming Life 
1 Peter 2, John 13:14

Following Jesus means we practice 
justice, generosity, and peace-making in 
our relationships and in our community 
engagement. Our allegiance to the 
Kingdom of God commissions us to live 
selflessly, as visible reminders of God’s love 
and goodness, and to seek the peace and 
well-being of our society. We glorify God 
by being creative and careful stewards of 
culture, by speaking prophetically against 
idolatry and by enduring the persecution 
and sacrifice to which Christ calls us.

A Church that Serves in an 
Atmosphere of Cooperation and 
Accountability 
Hebrews 10:25, Philippians 2:2

Our collective commitment is that each 
church will give expression to these 
common understandings in a culturally 
relevant manner and will seek to remain 
supportive and engaged with the wider 
Mennonite Brethren family and its 
ministries. Belonging to this family includes 
affirming our Confession of Faith, pastoral 
credentialing, and engaging Mennonite 
Brethren agencies and ministries with 
financial support and participation. 
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     It is a privilege and an honour to serve the 
BCMB family in the past four years as a member 
of the BCMB Executive Board and in this last year 
as Moderator.
     As I reflect on this time, there are three 
significant ways that I received extraordinary 
blessing in my life in these years of service:

1. The deeply meaningful experience of 
working side-by-side leaders in the BCMB 
family whose expression of faithful obedience, 
wisdom and grappling has reinvigorated my 
faith in the community of believers. I count 
these relationships among some of the most 
significant in my life and I thank each BCMB 
Executive Board member, Pastoral Ministries 
Committee member and Stewardship Advisory 
Committee member for their service. The 
closer I move to others in this BCMB family, 
the richer my life becomes. I’m grateful for 
the leadership of the three Moderators under 
whose leadership I have learned—Michael Dick, 
Don Petker and Matt Ewert. Thank you for your 
service and your friendship.

2. The gift of participating in Gathering in 
Saskatoon in July. This was a particularly 
special and sacred time for me among the 
Canadian Mennonite Brethren family. God 
was at work in very special ways, evidenced 
to me personally through four individuals 
who sought me out individually to share 

Scripture, prayers and prophetic words with 
me. I was touched by their initiative, obedience 
and God’s words of encouragement and 
exhortation. One of these individuals was Paul 
Duck, the Conference Minister from Brazil. He 
gave me much to ponder as he shared the 
power of prayer and the unique way that God 
has brought Brazil into global ministry.

3. The gift of appreciating the “way” that we 
function together as a Conference. More 
clarity came to me as I engaged with some 
pastors at the USMB Board of Faith and Life 
Study Conference. Some of these pastors 
sought the Mennonite Brethren conference 
for its unique, collaborative practice. They 
placed themselves under the umbrella of 
shared understandings, shared Confession 
of Faith and shared input. Their expression 
of appreciation for having found the MB 
Conference was heartfelt and sincere and eye-
opening for me.

     I thank God for these continuing insights 
into His love for the Canadian Mennonite 
Brethren family, our BCMB family and our global 
community of Mennonite Brethren. I continue to 
ask God to help me grasp the scope and breadth 
of the work He has prepared in advance for our 
BCMB family in British Columbia, Canada and 
throughout the world. 

MODERATOR’S 
REPORT
by Sharon Simpson, Executive Board
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     As Mennonite Brethrens, we are entering 
into a new season. At Gathering in July, we 
voted as a national conference 97% in favour 
of embracing the Collaborative Ministry 
Model. We thank Steve Berg for his leadership 
as National Executive Director through this 
transitional period, along with Bruce Enns for 
his leadership as CCMBC Moderator through 
this time. The prayerful seeking of God’s 
direction, the expressions of reconciliation, 
unity and humility have, more than anything 
else, fueled my desire for BCMB to emulate this 
collaborative engagement in our province.

“What we witnessed there 
was God’s reminder that He 
will do more than we ask or 
imagine as we live our lives 
surrendered to our Lord.”

     The powerful passing of leadership to Elton 
DaSilva at Gathering through David Wiebe, 
Willy Reimer and Steve Berg evidenced to us 
the Spirit’s unfaltering commitment to His 
people, the Mennonite Brethren family of 
Canada. Without knowing details, we know 
that these leaders have worked through their 
own experiences and circumstances to publicly 
embrace and reflect God’s heart of unity 
and redemption to us. Thank you. What we 
witnessed there was God’s reminder that He 
will do more than we ask or imagine as we live 
our lives surrendered to our Lord.
     The formation of a National Ministry Team 
began the work of re-defining the role and 
purpose of the Canadian Conference of 

Mennonite Brethren Churches. This new 
team brought us a shared national vision and 
National Strategic Ministry Framework.
     The BCMB Executive Board sees the 
National Strategic Framework as the 
foundation to which we align ourselves. We 
took the input gathered one year ago through 
a SWOT (Strength, Weakness, Opportunities, 
Threats) analysis and incorporated it into our 
discussions. We are pleased to bring you a 
draft version of the BCMB Strategic Ministry 
Framework, inviting your feedback and your 
input at this Convention and throughout the 
coming year.
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What has not changed? 

The lens through which we look 
An evangelical Anabaptist and Spirit-directed perspective

The vision and mission of BCMB 
To multiply Christ-centred churches to see the people of BC 

transformed by the Good News of Jesus Christ

The values of BCMB expressed in our Common 
Understandings 

The Confession of Faith 

     The Strategic Ministry Framework is 
a dynamic guiding tool that we can use 
together to collaboratively express the 
expectations and sharpen the focus of 
the BCMB Conference over the next three 
years and beyond. 
     It is a mandate from you, the churches, 
for how we will steward our time and 
resources provincially. 
     This Strategic Ministry Framework is an 
outline of what we as a BCMB family will 
be working toward together to continue 
to build our foundation and our future. 
It is our way of outlining shared priorities 

and objectives together as the member 
churches of the BCMB family. Without the 
support, engagement and participation of 
the BCMB family of churches, this Strategic 
Ministry Framework is of no value and will 
gain no momentum.  
     This is not a job description for our 
BCMB Executive Staff, although it will guide 
them and give them their mandate for 
prioritizing, collaborating, delegating and 
leading. In all of this they continue on with 
their work of shepherding the pastors and 
resourcing our churches and camps.

What is new?
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     The role of the BCMB Executive Board is to 
prompt the question to the BCMB family—what 
is God asking us to work toward together? How 
can we, together, address the complex and 
multi-faceted issues that face our BCMB family 
so that we can fulfill our calling in this province?
     The BCMB Strategic Ministry Framework 
draft has multiple objectives with several areas 
surfacing as the key areas of ministry focus:

 ▶ Assessing and fanning into flame spiritual 
and theological health of BCMB churches 
and pastors

 ▶ Developing collaborative and robust teams 
and action plans in key areas: Millennial 
Ministry, Human Resources Advisory and a 
Provincial Ministry Team (modeled after the 
National Ministry Team)

 ▶ Clarifying and strengthening partnerships 
with ministry partners who formerly reported 
to CCMBC such as Multiply, Maritimes, MB 
Seminary, Quebec Conference & ETEQ

 ▶ Creating a leadership framework and 
development pathway that is adopted across 
BCMB and our national family

 ▶ Recognizing the significant role of camps 
in leadership development and resourcing 
them for success

 ▶ Resourcing pastors, churches and camps for 
gospel-centered ministry among those in the 
LGBTQ community 

 ▶ Finding the place of MCC and other partners 
in holistic gospel ministry within BCMB

 ▶ Raising up the next generation of pastors 
and church planters

 ▶ Putting into place best practices and policies 
relating to the governance of BCMB

 ▶ Collaboration, partnership and prayer—
locally, provincially and nationally

“We are confident that  
God has a plan for the BCMB 
family—and that the plan 
is to thrive spiritually, 
theologically, in leadership, 
community and in mission.” 

     We invite your thoughts and conversation on 
these key focus areas. We believe that within our 
BCMB family, God is already preparing the hearts 
of those who will lead and partner in these 
initiatives. We believe God is readying the hearts 
of those who will resource these initiatives. We 
are confident that God has a plan for the BCMB 
family—and that the plan is to thrive spiritually, 
theologically, in leadership, community and in 
mission. 
     And we do all of this as God’s servants—each 
one of us. We serve the BCMB churches and 
you serve the members of those churches as 
we learn to increasingly entrust our lives to 
our mutual Master. We carry out our servant 
assignment according to the gifts entrusted to 
each one. We are the servants who plant the 
seed, who water the plants. We are servants who 
trust God for the growth and the harvest.
May God be honoured and may we be richly 
blessed as we seek His direction and guidance 
for the BCMB family in this season of ministry.
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CONFERENCE 
MINISTER’S 
REPORT
by Rob Thiessen

     Dear friends, I think I can say with a fair level 
of confidence that all of us could use some 
encouragement these days! We can resonate 
with Saint Paul’s words in 1 Corinthians 16:9:

     “A huge door for good work has opened to 
me, and there are many who oppose me.” 

     This is the paradox of life and ministry. But we 
have been here before, and Jesus will continue 
to build His Church. Reflect with me on the year 
behind us and all the things we have faced—
and then let’s focus together on the hope and 
opportunity that God is setting before us.

Opposition Without

This year, Canada has:
 ▶ Legalized pot
 ▶ Denied Trinity Western University’s appeal for 

a law school
 ▶ Marginalized Christian moral values by 

restricting summer internship funding
 ▶ Legitimized medically assisted death

     Movies and television are permeated with a 
moral bias that paints evangelical Christians as 
bigoted, unkind, and ignorant. We are beginning 
to feel what it means to live in a “post-Christian” 
society. Pastors wonder how long it will be before 
the government removes our clergy tax benefits, 
or indeed, allows any exemptions for charitable 
donations to our churches. 
     Many of you have already felt the pain of being 
misrepresented and targeted over social media 
by people with an agenda against the Church 
and the pastor that represents the Church in 
their community. We are the first Church to live 
through 2019, but we are not the first of God’s 
children to face pressure from without.
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Opposition Within 

     I am not going to repeat in print the negative 
things that our church families have experienced 
in the past year. It feels like dirty laundry and it’s 
painful to dwell on. 
     Let’s simply be honest and say that it is 
profoundly discouraging for us all when leaders 
among us fall morally. It is discouraging for us all 
when a leader among us threatens or initiates 
legal action in order to extract financial benefit. 
It is also discouraging and difficult when we find 
ourselves at odds regarding ministry philosophy 
with brothers and sisters within our community. 
We are tempted to lay blame, but perhaps like 
Barnabas and Paul, we simply cannot see a way 
to work together.
     Our challenges may be unique, but our source 
of unity is the same Spirit who has guided His 
people through many internal struggles.

Huge Open Doors

     Here is the paradox. People are responding to 
the gospel in BCMB churches across the board. 
     In Port Alberni at Gateway MB, Zack and 
Cheryl Hillman are seeing a community 
respond to the invitation to explore Christianity 
through the Alpha course. Attendance at Alpha 
at times exceeds attendance at church on a 
Sunday morning! 
     On a Sunday in March, I visited Main Street 
Church in downtown Chilliwack. Worship was 
Christ-focused and “hip”. The room was dark with 
lots of screens. Pastor Shawn preached a solid 
biblical and relevant message. The community 
was thriving. 
     An hour later, I was sitting at Broadway MB—a 
traditional MB building full of intergenerational 
worshippers who were joyful and clearly enjoying 
their fellowship. The worship was Christ-focused 

The BCMB Staff Team (from left to right): Connie Dyck, Danielle Kinvig, Irina Kroeker, Rob Thiessen, Sandra Schmidt, Denis Federau
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and….less “hip”. :) The room was bright and 
pastor Gary’s teaching was biblical and deeply 
applicable. I drove home to Langley encouraged 
to see how effective diverse churches can be. 
Your church is unique and uniquely gifted by 
God to be on mission with Him.
     Across BC, our churches, camps, college 
and seminary are all reporting growth and 
engagement. The spiritual hunger of people and 
openness to the gospel and love of Christ seems 
to be increasing and not decreasing.
     Could it be that God is, in reality, pushing open 
the doors before us despite the opposition? 
     In his podcast, This Cultural Moment, Mark 
Sayers—a Christian leader from Australia—
suggests that the “post-Christian” worldview 
is losing favour rapidly and that there may well 
be a great opportunity for evangelism in the 
coming years. 
     As Saint Paul wrote, “…dear friends, stand your 
ground. And don’t hold back. Throw yourselves 
into the work of the Master, confident that 
nothing you do for him is a waste of time or 
effort.” (1 Cor 15:58 The Message)

The BCMB Team

     The “season of change” seems to go on and 
on for us at BCMB. As you know, Ron van Akker 
has returned once again to the Pastoral Team 
at Central Community Church. Our loss is their 
gain, and I will finally concede defeat to Lead 
Pastor Matt Shantz for Ron’s services (watch your 
back, Matt!). 
     Denis Federau has been stepping in to assist 
me in various ministry contexts, while at the 
same time, carrying his portfolio as Resource 
Director and BCMB Bible Camp Society 

Executive Director. I am deeply thankful for his 
solid partnership. 
     Many of you are aware that Connie Dyck leads 
our administration with excellence and much 
joy. She and her team serve our churches well 
and we are deeply grateful.
     Over the past year, many of you have met 
Elton DaSilva. As our new Canadian National 
MB Director, Elton is tasked with developing 
a new “collaborative model” for the working 
together of our provinces in reaching the 
nation. Elton is a team builder and I believe we, 
as a BCMB community, will have an important 
role to play in this new model. Let’s all lean in 
as we have opportunity to renew and fortify 
our key partnerships, including Multiply in 2019 
and beyond.
     Finally, I am grateful for the vision and 
strategic framework being presented in draft 
form by our BCMB Executive Board Moderator 
Sharon Simpson. Sharon is an able and gifted 
servant of the Church and I believe that all of us 
will benefit from the clarity and synergy that this 
framework provides. 
     Pray for our BCMB Executive Board and staff 
team as you gather your church leadership 
to seek the Lord. Together, God will guide us 
through the challenges and widen the doors of 
opportunity before us. 

“Could it be that God is, in 
reality, pushing open the 
doors before us despite the 
opposition?” 
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DEVELOPING
LEADERS
Identifying, developing and 
supporting leaders to ensure 
the continuation of mission

BUILDING
COMMUNITY
Fostering our theological 
identity and relationships, 
nurturing healthy 
accountability and partnerships

MULTIPLYING
CHURCHES
Planting and multiplying 
disciple-making churches and 
enabling missional opportuni-
ties

RESOURCING
MINISTRIES

O�ering resources and tools to 
churches and organizations to 

help them achieve their mission

Our Mission is to multiply Christ-centred
churches to see the people of BC transformed 

by the good news of Jesus Christ

Ministry Model



BCMB CONVENTION 2019

18 OPEN DOORS & ADVERSARIES

DIRECTOR OF
RESOURCE MINISTRIES
REPORT
by Denis Federau

For which of you, desiring to build a tower, 
does not first sit down and count the cost, 
whether he has enough to complete it? 
Otherwise, when he has laid a foundation 
and is not able to finish, all who see it begin 
to mock him, saying, ‘This man began to 
build and was not able to finish.’
Luke 14:28-30

     If I were to summarize this past year in service 
to our BCMB churches as I provided resources, 
information, and guidance, it would be captured 
with Jesus’ words above: ‘counting the cost.’ 
     There is definitely a cost to following Christ. 
Thanks to God’s mercy, however, there is no 
cost in accepting the salvation we have in Jesus 
Christ through his death and resurrection. But 
there is a significant cost in being a disciple 
of Jesus, as He reminds us just a few verses 
before in this same chapter (verses 26 to 27). 
This cost impacts us both individually as well as 
corporately. 
     My continuing desire and vision is to facilitate 
a healthy, stable, and growing church family so 
they can continue to preach the good news of 
Jesus Christ and be effective witnesses in their 
communities. 
     Our office strives to provide our churches 
with the necessary resources to incorporate best 
practices in all areas of church life: 

 ▶ financial stewardship and management

 ▶ HR practices and procedures

 ▶ integration of safety policies in all areas of 
ministry to mitigate liability

 ▶ adequate insurance coverage

 ▶ clarifying and updating church governance 
and policy

 ▶ CRA and tax issues

 ▶ assistance during crisis—just to name a few. 

     There are always costs associated with 
expanding God’s Kingdom and the enemy will 
not idly stand by as we seek to proclaim the 
gospel of Jesus Christ. 
     Sometimes the cost is minimal and only 
requires slight procedural changes. Other 
times, however, the cost may involve wholesale 
changes, re-evaluating ministry, or even 
assessing its viability in continuing operations. 
     The cost of bearing witness to Jesus in our 
province (and beyond) always brings with it 
sacrifices that are far greater than financial 
expenditures. Lest we forget, we are in a war 
and not fighting against flesh and blood, but 
against the rulers and evil authorities of this dark 
world (Ephesians 6:12). 
     Even though we live in a society where we 
have the freedom to gather and practice our 
faith, our churches are experiencing the reality 
of an ever-increasing hostility towards the 
values and truth it stands for and proclaims. 
These hostilities and resistance continually exert 
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pressure on every facet of ministry in the church. 
We strive to give our churches the best advice 
and resources to navigate these challenges, yet 
remain relevant, uncompromising, and strong. 

     Another area of significant time investment 
was in liaising between our Stewardship 
Advisory Committee and churches applying for 
a mortgage. The high costs and low supply of 
appropriate real estate for our churches have 
created added challenges for our congregations 
to find suitable space, while being able to 
service the debt without impacting ongoing 
ministries. Churches are forced to increasingly 
explore new ways to afford the high cost of living 
in this beautiful province, yet not compromise 
their status with CRA, nor partner with outside 
agencies that do not share the same values and 
principles they do. 
     Besides providing resources, I had the 
privilege to shepherd some of our churches as 

“We strive to give our 
churches the best advice 
and resources to navigate 
these challenges, yet remain 
relevant, uncompromising, 
and strong.” 

they experienced leadership transitions. These 
seasons of change and uncertainty are never 
easy, but they do afford the church with great 
potential for renewal and rekindling of vision 
and purpose. 
     Our BCMB Conference has been blessed 
with resources, both financial and human. As 
such, we are called to use our resources, not 
only for the advancement of God’s Kingdom 
in British Columbia, but across Canada and 
beyond. To that end, we continue to work 
side-by-side with our CCMBC leadership and 
partner agencies like Multiply, Columbia 
Bible College, BCMB Bible Camp Society, 
and MBBS, to bring about a renewed spirit 
of collaboration and increased effectiveness 
as we seek to strengthen provincial conference 
partnerships, as well as inter-church 
partnerships across Canada. 
     Lastly, I want to acknowledge the leadership 
of our Conference Minister, Rob Thiessen, under 
whose guidance and pastoral experience I have 
gleaned and learned more than a lifetime worth 
of insights and lessons. I count it as a privilege 
to partner with him as we serve our BCMB 
church family. 
     I draw huge comfort from Jesus’ promise that 
He is building his Church and the gates of hell 
cannot prevail against it (Matt. 16:18). 
     Yes, there is a cost, but thanks be to Jesus that 
He already paid the ultimate price! 
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Greetings MB Churches of Canada,

As we enter 2019, we look forward to the ways God will 
lead us as we rethink how we work together as a family 
of churches. Over the coming year, you will have several 
opportunities to speak into the development of this Col-
laborative Model.

It is with a great deal of excitement that I inform you that 
teamwork between provincial conference leaders, MB 
agencies, and the Canadian Conference of MB Church-
es (CCMBC) is growing. At present, all these aspects of 
MB ministry are working together to develop a unified, 
strategic ministry framework for Mennonite Brethren in 
Canada. Our goal is to present you with a simplified and 
effective structure in which all these parts will work to 
support the mission of the local church. 

During the regional meetings across the country in fall 
2018, you told us that you want to see us maintain a 
focus on local and global mission, make a greater 
investment in developing the next generation of leaders, 
and clarify our common convictions and theology. We 
commit ourselves to follow through with what you have 
asked us to do. 

In the Collaborative Model, “we”  is no longer CCMBC. 
This “we” represents  the provinces and the national 
agencies (MB Seminary and Multiply) working together 
for the health of our churches.  

This new way of working is exemplified in all aspects of 
the Collaborative Model. In the role of  discerning direc-
tion, provincial and agency leaders  form the National 

Ministry Team (NMT). Entrusted with theological watch 
care, the National Faith and Life Team (NFLT) also has 
representation from each province and agency. At the 
governance level, the National Assembly will be com-
posed of all members of provincial boards and repre-
sentatives of Multiply and MB Seminary. The National 
Assembly Executive will continue to be made up of   pro-
vincial moderators. All these layers together will form the 
new “we.”

Our next steps toward the full implementation of the Col-
laborative Model:

• Presentation at each spring 2019 provincial con-
vention, including a draft of a strategic plan, a draft 
of a unified budget, and the ministry scope and 
definitions for each part of the Collaborative Model. 

• June 8, 2019 – an informal  National Assembly to 
to hear and discuss the National Ministry Team’s 
draft of a new governance model.

• October 23, 2019 – a proposal for approval of the 
full implementation of the Collaborative Model at 
the special AGM.

All of us are working diligently and prayerfully as we con-
tinue to develop the Collaborative Model. I ask you to 
join us in prayer and engagement in this process. Your 
voice is important as we move forward.

Sincerely,
Elton DaSilva
National Director
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Courageous Collaboration

There’s an old Herman cartoon of a caveman looking 
thoughtfully at a cart with square wheels. The caption is 
along the lines of “Did you ever have the feeling you’re on 
the verge of an incredible breakthrough?”

Over the last two years, I have had that sense from peo-
ple at all levels of our conference. We have so many won-
derful churches, godly leaders, and incredible partners, 
but something felt like it was missing. At the same time, 
we wanted greater unity and a stronger, more collabora-
tive MB conference in Canada. 

In the spring of 2017, that collaboration grew in earnest 
with the courageous humility of leaders across the MB 
family. They came with towel and basin – willing to give 
up whatever was necessary to make it happen – recog-
nizing that true collaboration involves creativity and sac-
rifice, not just words. This was, and is, not a journey of 
MB family leaders, or a few provinces or partners, but 
a beginning of unprecedented collaboration for all of us.

Collaboration has taken many forms:

• We merged MB Mission and C2C into Multiply to
foster the understanding that mission work and
church work are the same thing.

• CCMBC’s Executive Board offered to release its
decision-making authority to the provinces.

• Provincial conferences and partner agencies made
unprecedented commitments to share resources
and systems.

• Collectively, at our annual meeting last year, we
passed a motion to develop the collaborative model.

• When many questions arose about one stream
funding for the collaborative model, we delayed the
decision for a year to gather additional information

and work out more details together.
• Now we are developing a common strategy map

for our MB family to navigate together.

We continue to work with representatives from the pro-
vincial and national conferences and our agencies to 
determine how the new collaborative model will work. 
Elton DaSilva, who started as CCMBC national director 
in July 2018, is skillfully guiding us through this time of 
listening, cooperating, and collaborating. It has been my 
honour to work together with Elton during these past few 
months – he is a gift to the conference during this time of 
transformation. 

Collaboration between many decisive leaders takes ef-
fort, but it is the Kingdom way to strengthen our confer-
ence. I’m grateful for the posture of humility among our 
leaders. We will continue to need that courageous humil-
ity as we walk through challenging issues in the days and 
months ahead. 

In 1 Corinthians, Paul says that some plant, some water, 
but only God makes the seed grow. We all do our part, 
building on the foundation of Jesus. Then Paul declares 
this truth about the power of the Spirit in community: 

“Don’t you realize that all of you together are the temple of 
God and that the Spirit of God lives in you?” (1 Corinthi-
ans 3:16 NLT). God’s Spirit is at work – be encouraged!

Thank you for praying, listening to the Spirit, and humbly 
participating with us as we step into this incredible break-
through of collaboration together. 

Bruce Enns
CCMBC Moderator
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PASTORAL MINISTRIES 
COMMITTEE REPORT
by Paul Lam, Chair

All Scripture is God-breathed and is 
useful for teaching, rebuking, correcting 
and training in righteousness, so that 
the servant of God may be thoroughly 
equipped for every good work.
2 Timothy 3:16

     The primary duty of the Pastoral Ministries 
Committee is to make sure that pastors, faculty 
members in theological schools, and individuals 
involved in ministries within the BCMB 
Conference are suitable for their respective 
service, and that their biblical and doctrinal 
beliefs are in agreement with the Mennonite 
Brethren Confession of Faith. 
     The Committee carries out this duty seriously 
to safeguard the evangelical-Anabaptist 
tradition in the MB Church. Not every person 
attending an interview gets credentialed the 
first time. Some people are asked to redo parts 
of the questionnaire, usually the sections of 
Biblical-Theological Affirmations and Current 
Theological Issues, and then return for a second 
interview. The ultimate purpose is to help every 
credentialing candidate to succeed.   
     The Committee for 2018-2019 is composed of 
the following members: Paul Lam (Chair), Connie 
Siebert (Secretary), Eldon Fehr, Gary Simpson, 
Ken Peters, Trevor Stearns, Tom Cheung, and 
Rob Thiessen (Conference Minister). 

     The members serve as one person and trust 
the Lord in fulfilling their duty and decision-
making. They rejoice with the candidates when 
they do well and encourage them when they 
struggle. They also share the joys and challenges 
in the candidate’s ministry and personal life and 
pray for them. Owing to needs, the Committee 
would travel outside the Lower Mainland to hold 
credentialing meetings in the past, e.g., Prince 
George and Kelowna. But there was no need to 
do so this year. 
     The Committee conducted ten interviews in 
2018-2019, and the names of the credentialed 
candidates are listed as follows: 

 ▶ Kelvin Peters 
 Associate Pastor
 Whistler Community Church

 ▶ Shawn Klassen 
 Connections Pastor
 Sunridge Community Church

 ▶ Ajay Klassen 
 Worship Arts/Youth Ministry Pastor
 Coast Hills Community Church

 ▶ Kendra Gerbrandt 
 Pastoral Intern 
 Northview Community Church
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“Do your best to present 
yourself to God as one 
approved, a worker who does 
not need to be ashamed and 
who correctly handles the 
word of truth.” — 2 Tim 2:15

 ▶ Sarah Friesen 
 Pastoral Intern 
 Northview Community Church

 ▶ Gil Dueck 
 Academic Dean  
 Columbia Bible College

 ▶ Isaiah Muuo
 Associate Pastor
 Vancouver Christian Logos Church

 ▶ Bill Chan
 Youth and Children’s Pastor
 Vancouver Pacific Grace MB Church

     In addition to conducting interviews, the 
Committee has also done the following work in 
the past year:

Credentialing transfers & reinstatement:

 ▶ Terrance Froese (Transition Pastor) from 
Saskatchewan Conference of MB Churches  

 ▶ Willy Reimer (Discipleship Pastor of 
Willingdon Church) from Alberta Conference 
of MB Churches

 ▶ Dwight Stephen (Children’s Pastor of 
Northview Community Church)

Updates on churches in the Conference:

The Committee was briefed on the status of 
several churches around the province and 
worked with the Conference Minister to deal 
with certain situations. 

Future relationship with the New Faith & 
Life Team of the Canadian Conference of MB 
Churches:

The Committee learned about the formation 
of the New Faith & Life Team and future 
collaboration with it.  

Appropriate response to sexual misconduct: 

The Committee was asked to consider how it 
might help the Conference in case of pastoral 
sexual misconduct. Its discussion included the 
following: the composition of a response team, 
the role of a response team, support for victims 
and policy for response.

Following-up on previous interviews:

Contacts were made with candidates who 
were not credentialed from previous interviews 
to make sure that they completed all the 
requirements for re-interviews.

Building a reading list:

The Committee continued to build a list of 
reference books to help candidates broaden 
their theological and spiritual knowledge on 
certain topics.

     The Committee is grateful to the Lord for 
its work and glad to serve the Conference in 
2018-2019!  



"All around us, there are signs
pointing to the fact that the 
church, and by extension 

Christian organizations, cannot continue 
to adopt a ‘business as usual’ approach. 
This is not the time for sitting back and 
admiring past accomplishments. We 
need to keep finding new ways to fulfill 

the mission God has given us even as we wrestle with complex 
cultural challenges. 

At Columbia, we are partnering with churches and Christian 
organizations to develop new programs and curricula as we 
look to the future. Bible College education is more relevant 
than ever. Columbia has been in existence in one form or 
another for 82 years, and we believe God wants to do far 
more yet through our graduates. This is the time for pressing 
forward – for discipling young men and women in the present 

and developing the necessary structures so that we can 
continue to do so for many more years. 

Committed to God’s direction for Columbia’s future, we are 
strengthening our discipleship emphasis, creating excellent 
academic programs that bring our strong biblical core 
curriculum into conversation with a variety of practical 
areas and applications, and developing our campus in order 
to enable mission fulfillment. By God’s grace and with his 
provision, we believe now is the time to position Columbia’s 
culture, programs, and facilities for long-term Kingdom 
impact. As we follow Christ, we are focused on developing 
servant leaders for the church of today and tomorrow!

Bryan Born, President

C O L U M B I A  B I B L E  C O L L E G E  H I G H L I G H T S :  2 0 1 8 - 1 9

" P R E S S I N G  F O R WA R D  F O R  K I N G D O M  I M PA C T "

T H A N K  YO U  T O  M C B C !

MEET JUSTIN
Biblical Studies, Class of 2020

"I grew up in a strong Christian family, but I lost
my dad to suicide at the age of ten. We had to sell our 
house, and move in with our grandparents. From grade 8 
on, I worked every weekend and summer to save up for 
school.

Originally, I had no interest in Christian higher education. 
However, I was reading my Bible one day and realized that 
I was completely lost — I didn’t understand any of what I 
was reading. This shocked me, as I grew up living with my 
grandpa who is a pastor. That day, I applied to Columbia 
Bible College. My plan was to spend just one year at CBC.

In my first year at Columbia, God redeemed my lack of 
a father figure by providing me with very strong male 
Christian mentors. God healed my heart by providing me 
with opportunities to talk to other students who had also 
lost their fathers. God showed me his healing power at 
Vespers when a fellow student prayed for me and I was 
able to walk on my broken ankle without pain. Finally, God 
ignited a fire in my heart which prompted me to continue 
learning and studying his word at CBC.

To all the donors who support Columbia, thank you for 
investing in these fundamental years of our lives. Thank you 
for reminding us of God’s faithfulness."
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W E  A R E  D E V E L O P I N G  A  H E A L T H
C A R E  A S S I S T A N T  C E R T I F I C A T E
In partnership with Menno Place, Columbia plans 
to launch a health care assistant training program 
to meet the growing demand for HCAs within our 
community. We are currently working on finalizing 
biblical-theological content and integrating 
Christ-centered concepts and practices into the 
provincially-approved HCA curriculum. Target date 
for program launch is September 2019.

E Q U I P P I N G  T H E  C H U R C H
It's been our privilege to host a number 
of events focused on equipping 

churches and church leaders for ministry in the 
21st century. In May, we held #ChurchToo, a 
weekend conference addressing the tragic reality 
of sexual misconduct among clergy.

For the first time, we offered "Conversational 
Punjabi 1," a continuing education evening course 
to help people engage with their Indo-Canadian 
neighbours. Enthusiasm for the course surpassed 
expectations, and we will gladly consider offering 
more courses along these lines in the future.

January 31 saw Columbia partnering with 
Apologetics Canada to host "How to Keep Young 
Adults Engaged in the Local Church." Rick 
Hiemstra of the Evangelical Fellowship of Canada 
presented compelling new research into the faith 
of young Canadian adults, with a lively panel 
discussion following.

N E W S W O R T H Y

A P P L I E D  L E A D E R S H I P 
B E C O M E S  A  D E G R E E
Columbia students are now able 

to graduate with a BA in Practical Theology 
(Applied Leadership). The four-year option builds 
on Columbia’s two-year Diploma in Applied 
Leadership, which begins with a focus on self-
awareness: self-management and understanding 
one’s unique gifts, dark sides, and capacity for 
influence. Second-year courses help students 
learn skills for engaging small teams and cultural 
dynamics. Students moving on to third and  
fourth-year BA level courses will grow their 
skillset further, developing leadership theory 
and practice around organizational behaviour, 
leadership sustainability, management, and 
communication.

STATUS: 26 students enrolled
BA students: 9 | Diploma students: 17.

W E L C O M E  T O  D R . 
K I M B E R L E Y  M O R R I S O N
We were delighted to welcome Dr. 

Morrison to our faculty team this August. Dr. 
Morrison holds an MA in Global Leadership and 
a doctorate in Intercultural Studies from Fuller 
Theological Seminary. She has served in ministry 
roles across Canada and the United States, most 
recently helping to launch Urban Abbey, a missional 
church community in Northern Ontario. Kimberley 
will teach courses in intercultural studies, mission, 
and communication.

We're so grateful for BCMB's 
faithful and generous investment 
in Columbia Bible College. Many 
thanks for your gift of $315,000 in 
2018! 

We're also thankful for the 
dedicated service of BCMB 
representatives on our Board of 
Directors: Lorne Welwood, John 
Best, Scott Carpenter, Chrissy 
Funk, Marcie Kroeker, Kyle 
Meeker, Kate Reid, and Christine 
Reimer.

THANK YOU TO BCMB!

2 0 1 8 - 1 9  S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T I E S

T H E  C H U R C H  &  C O M M U N I T Y 
S U R V E Y
We've designed a survey to seek feedback  from our 
connected churches and Christian community, and 
plan to launch it spring 2019. Our desire is to use the 
feedback so we can better serve our churches and 
the community. Please keep your eye out for it and 
provide your input!

www.columbiabc.edu/feedback
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PURSUIT SCHOOL OF 
EVANGELISM
by Michelle Collins

     Led by Phil and Michelle Collins at Willow 
Park Church in Kelowna, Pursuit School is a 
nine-month, church-based ministry training 
program for students with a passion for serving 
God in evangelism. The goal of Pursuit School is 
to inspire, equip, and release ministers to their 
ministry call. Pursuit School is unique in that it 
is both classroom and placement-based on a 
weekly schedule.

Our second year so far

     Pursuit School is now into its second year with 
12 full-time students. 
     The school year began with a one-week 
intensive. This included engaging in Set Free 
teaching, writing goals, and helping students 
understand their own gifts and strengths. 
     As the course found its regular rhythm, the 
class experienced weekly teaching from a 
range of speakers—evangelists, missionaries, 
practitioners, and local chaplains. Students always 
have lots of questions for our visiting speakers! 
     Pursuit School also covers a wide range 
of themes: understanding culture, Bible 
surveys, impacting society, communicating 
effectively, and creative outreach. Our classes 
are a combination of teaching, interaction, and 
group work. 

Placement highlights

     All of the students are involved in their 
allocated placements following two days in the 
classroom. Several students are with the Willow 
Park youth department and enjoy weekly 
hands-on and creative involvement in youth 
activity. They are also involved in the Rush 
Youth Conference and travelling to LA and 
Portland on the Willow Park youth trips. Other 
students are placed at the Willow Park Hope 
Centre and senior’s afternoon. 
     As a group, students enjoyed volunteering 
for Living Nativity, setting the space for 21 days 
of Prayer, Salvation Army Bell Ringing, and 
attending the Apologetics Conference. They 
are currently developing their communication 
gifts and will soon be sharing a short 
devotional each week before worship at Willow 
Park’s Highway 33 campus.  
     Pursuit School ends with an optional 
mission trip to Caen, France. Last year, students 
spoke in church plants and engaged in a 24/7 
prayer room. The main focus of the trip was 
working with Sudanese Refugees in Caen 
Presqu’ile. Evenings were spent sharing meals, 
giving out clothing and shoes, hearing stories, 
and playing games. We return this year to join 
in with this established ministry. 
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     In addition to the full-time school, Pursuit 
Night School was launched. This has been well 
attended on a weekly basis with 15 to 25 students 
experiencing a ‘condensed’ version of the full-
time school. 
     Our ongoing prayer is that the next 
generation of active evangelists will pursue 
their call, serve the local church, and start to 
purposefully disciple others.

How can you be involved?

 ▶ Pray for us! 

 ▶ Send a student from your congregation. i.e. 
an intern. The student attends two days of 
classes weekly, and your church manages 
the placement (better suited to Okanagan-
based churches)

 ▶ Send students for the full school year 
where they will experience an alternative 
placement, then return to your church upon 
completion. 

     If you would like to discuss any of these 
options or would like more information, please 
contact michelle@pursuitschool.com 

“Our ongoing prayer is that 
the next generation of active 
evangelists will pursue their 
call, serve the local church, 
and start to purposefully 
disciple others.”

2nd year 

 12 full-time students

15 - 25 night school students



More than 16 years ago, after being hired at Arnold 
Community Church in Abbotsford, BC, Rob Dyck made 
the life-changing decision to attend MB Seminary for the 
Masters of Divinity program.
 
“The study of Scripture and theology has deepened my 
‘spiritual well’, enabling me to preach, teach, and lead a 
congregation more effectively,” says Rob.
 
In 2016, Rob felt an unmistakable calling from God 
to take a lead pastor position at Westwood Church in 
Prince George. It was a call he couldn’t ignore. “I had a 
strong conviction that God had given Westwood Church 
a responsibility to play a significant role in equipping 
disciples living in the north and I was excited to be part 
of that,” says Rob. “At the same time, I wondered what it 
would be like to work as a pastor so far from the larger MB 
support network I’d had in Abbotsford.”
 
Once he landed in Prince George, however, Rob realized 
that today’s technological advances have the ability to 
make hundreds of kilometers seem like just a few.
  
“I’m thankful for the resources and support MB 
Seminary offers to churches remotely. Westwood has 
taken part in several workshop events via simulcast. 
There has been great interest shown by 
the community for both non-formal and formal 
ministry training. If one thing is clear, it’s that people 
want to learn.”

Bringing Ministry  
Training to Northern BC
How Westwood Church is Poised 
to Make a Difference

The future holds some exciting opportunities for further 
partnership between Westwood Church and MB Seminary. 
“Westwood’s mission is to make disciples of all nations 
as Christ commanded,” says Rob. “We are interested in 
partnering with MB Seminary to become a teaching facility, 
and are exploring what it could look like for us to offer 
graduate courses and non-formal leadership training.”

MB Seminary is passionate about partnering with 
churches across Canada to provide support for spiritual 
growth in many capacities. Westwood Church is one of a 
number of churches forming a close partnership with MB 
Seminary to equip church leaders throughout Canada and 
the world.

Rob has been a dedicated member of MB Seminary’s Board of Directors since 2014.

If your church is interested in partnering with  
MB Seminary, we would love to hear from you.
CONTACT US AT 604-513-2133.

A Message from the President of MB Seminary
So often, I meet pastors and church members who are 
looking to further their ministry education but are unsure 
of where to turn or what program might work for their 
specific needs. Many are surprised to learn that MB 
Seminary offers a broad spectrum of training programs, 
both on campus and remotely. 

We are passionate about partnering with churches 
to educate and equip ministry leaders to share the 
transformative power of Jesus’ love with the world. If  
you or your church members are seeking ministry support 

and education, we would love to start a conversation with 
you and see how we can best meet your needs. If you 
can’t come to us, we’ll come to you!

Together, we can equip more men and women to lead the 
Church in reaching Canada and the world with the Good 
News of Jesus Christ!
 

 
          Mark Wessner | President, MB Seminary

2019
PROVINCIAL REPORT
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7600 GLOVER ROAD, LANGLEY, BC V2Y 1Y1
phone 1-855-252-3293       mail  langley@mbseminary.ca

MBSEMINARY.CA

Graduate Training on Campus 
MB Seminary’s graduate programs, offered in Langley, 
Saskatoon, Winnipeg, and Toronto, provide a diverse 
range of courses to prepare men and women for 
effective leadership and ministry. Our graduate 
theological programs and leadership development 
programs support healthy, vibrant church communities 
by training biblically articulate, Spirit-led, and mission 
focused pastors and leaders.

Remote Graduate Training
Studying on campus is not feasible for everyone who 
wishes to further their ministry education. That’s why 
MB Seminary now offers formal ministry education in 
partnership with teaching churches across Canada, and 
also through the new ACTS World Campus. Our onsite 
and online graduate-level training provides students with 
flexible programs that allow them to study no matter 
where they live.

Professional Development
In addition to graduate training, MB Seminary offers 
non-formal leadership development for pastors, leaders, 
and church members. Whether your leadership team 
would like to refresh their biblical knowledge with 
a weekend course, or you’d like to host a workshop 
event for your congregation, our MinistryLift programs 
provide resources that help address key theological and 
practical topics relevant to ministry in Canada today.

How MB Seminary Can 
Serve You 

We’ll Come to You!

Find out how MB Seminary can partner with your 
church. GET IN TOUCH AT 604-513-2133.

MB Seminary offers a variety of training 
options for your church leaders and 

congregation. If you can’t come to us,  
we can bring ministry training to you.

“Talking about better ways to parent can be so 
hard. MB Seminary’s parenting workshop at our 

church gave us a shame-free way to learn, discuss, 
and  apply our knowledge. I would encourage any  

parent to attend!” 

- Theresa Jouan, MinistryLift Participant

“Not all churches can afford to bring in professional 
speakers on their own. I was very impressed with  

the video presentation from MB Seminary!”

- Giselle Jackson, Grandmother and
Congregation Member 

“My training at seminary prepared me well for  
church leadership over the long haul. The small  

class sizes and personal relationships I developed 
were also key in my growth.” 

- Ryan Jantzi, Pastor

Our faculty and staff preached 
39 times in 30 different 
churches across Canada

We delivered MinistryLift 
training to 24 churches

Our current students serve 
in leadership positions in  
33 churches

126 graduate students 
in 2018 (up from 104 in 2017)

It’s almost that time of year. Get ready for 
our 2018/2019 Annual Report for more  

extensive stories and statistics about the 
impact of MB Seminary!

SIGN UP FOR OUR MAILING LIST AT 
MBSEMINARY.CA
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> Global

God is multiplying churches and partnerships like never before 
to the ends of the earth. We are amazed at the new levels of 
collaboration that we are seeing among church planting networks 
in places like Malawi, Burundi, and Myanmar. The church leaders 
that we are engaged with in these settings are some of the most 
dynamic servants of the Gospel that we have ever worked with, 
and we are thrilled about helping them multiply their passion, 
vision and ministry among the nations. We are now working with 
more than one hundred denominations worldwide, which has 
allowed us the privilege of training and equipping 1344 church 
planters. Those harvest workers have planted 132 new churches 
and baptized more than 3000 new believers. In addition, our 
strategies involved the mobilization of more than 3000 committed 
prayer partners and 1445 short-term mission participants. The 
world needs Jesus, and we are more engaged than ever in 
embracing global opportunities to see the name of Jesus made 
known among the nations.

For there to be an unprecedented global harvest, the whole Church 
will need to be awakened to life, engaged in concerted prayer, and 
ready to embrace every mission assignment from Jesus. We want to 
thank you for joining us on this journey. 

Please visit our new website today at multiply.net to learn more 
about how you can be part of the teams that are making Jesus 
known locally, nationally, and globally.

Your fellow multipliers,

Randy Friesen,
President, Multiply

Global Report
Thank you for your generous support as MB Mission and C2C 
Network have become Multiply. As we enter this new chapter in 
mission together, we are working as never before locally, nationally 
and globally, that the world may know Jesus.

> Local

We are seeing local churches all around the world catch a vision 
for planting more churches in their own cities and neighbouring 
communities. We love to tell stories about new churches springing 
up in places like Whitehorse, Yukon where people are hearing the 
Gospel for the first time, finding faith in Jesus and choosing to 
be baptized. In other places like Vilnius, Lithuania, where spiritual 
darkness has prevailed for decades, our church planting teams are 
embracing new opportunities to share the Gospel and bring the 
light of Christ to their neighbours. Work among refugees and new 
immigrants continues to be fruitful in key centers across Canada 
and Germany. We are also seeing a fresh movement of God’s Spirit 
among our First Nations neighbours as we build friendships and 
learn to share the hope of Christ within their cultural setting. 
Whether through AWAKE weekends or through our various short-
term mission programs, we appreciate every opportunity that God 
is giving us to inspire, equip and encourage the local church to 
embrace God’s mission in their unique setting.

> National

In Canada, we are seeing a new level of inter-provincial cooperation 
as we coordinate mission strategy with the newly formed national 
MB ministry team. We are grateful for the unity that we enjoy 
not only as Mennonite Brethren but also as the broader Church 
in Canada. Multiply is now partnering with more than thirty 
denominations across the country to help train church planters and 
facilitate effective church planting. In 2018, more than one hundred 
church plants were supported through Multiply, and more than a 
thousand church leaders were trained. We rejoice at the fruitfulness 
of new church planting initiatives in places like Quebec and Atlantic 
Canada where the ground has previously been hard. In addition to 
another Multiply Conference in Vancouver in 2019, we will also be 
hosting the same event in Halifax, Nova Scotia, where hundreds of 
church leaders will gather to be inspired, equipped and encouraged 
to engage God’s mission in Canada.

300 - 32040 Downes Road, Abbotsford, BC  V4X 1X5 Canada   �   4867 E. Townsend Avenue, Fresno, CA  93727-5006 USA

1.866.964.7627   �   multiply.net

Gord Fleming 
Executive VP, Multiply
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God is at work across supernatural BC! We pray each 
morning at 10:02 for more labourers (see Luke 10:02) and 
are experiencing God’s living, breathing answers as new 
conversations start week by week with leaders at various 
stages of discerning God’s call towards multiplication. 
Meanwhile, we observe both new and established churches 
being stirred with fresh vision to equip planters and pursue 
kingdom expansion.

The work of starting and encouraging new churches remains 
challenging and rewarding. Churches continue to face 
opposition when they identify cultural idols and seek to find 
spaces for gathering & worship. But many in our cities are being 
drawn to the way, the Word, and the community of Jesus. This 
month, 650 mission-minded Christians gathered at Westside 
Church in downtown Vancouver for worship, equipping in the 
Word and to be commissioned in the way of Jesus. 

Here are some of the local expressions of this work through our 
BCMB family:

> Assessment Centres

We’re thankful for the 3 BC candidate couples who participated 
in church planter assessment in 2018. It’s also exciting to see 
God opening opportunities for church planting apprenticeships 
which help emerging leaders hone their skills and develop 
capacity before considering church planter assessment. A 
Vancouver Assessment Center took place from March 12-14 at 
Willingdon Church and, of the 5 couples that participated,
Obadiah & Sue Kim are sponsored by our conference and House 
for All Nations.. Would you continue to pray with us for God to 
call out workers among the MB family of churches?

Let’s Celebrate Our Shared Impact In Church Planting
Working together in the last year... 

> Active Apprentices

Jake and Maisie Lefave will be launching a new campus this Fall, 
out of Christ City Church in the Hastings-Sunrise-East Village 
neighbourhood of Vancouver. They are developing their launch plan 
and gathering a solid core team.  

Tim and Melissa Durksen are committed to planting a church in Maple 
Ridge. We continue to coach them as they prepare to plant. Tim is 
developing his preaching voice and his launch plan.

Heath and Mariko Meikle are engaged in the Commercial Drive area while 
apprenticing with Christ City. He has joined a co-op office space (co:lab) 
where he is having great gospel conversations and planting seeds of hope.

Westside Church launched an apprentice-equipping track in 2018 as 
part of their ministry and partnership with Multiply. Westside further 
supports Cadré’s & Collectives; smaller gatherings where pastors & 
planters meet to pray, be equipped and encouraged on mission. They 
just announced their plans to send one of their apprentices (Aaron 
Boswell) to Winnipeg in 2020 to plant an MB church.

> Planter Pipeline

Developing a pipeline for gospel-centered, Spirit-led, mission-focused 
church planters is a vital part of Multiply’s strategy. On March 29 & 
30 we are inviting pastors and young leaders to join us to experience 
Ascent Basecamp; a one-day event that allows them to interact and 
learn from church planters. March 30 is hosted by North Langley 
Community Church and we have invited our college to send students 
who they discern may be future church planters or core team members. 
Would you pray and encourage your church to support Ascent by 
sending the next generation of planters & pastors?

BC Church Planting
2019 Ministry Update

Western Canada

1 MB Church Plant Closed

25 Church Planting Apprentices

 6 MB Church Planting Apprentices

At least 550 Baptisms

97 Church Plants in North America

43 MB Church Plants

29 Church Plants Graduated

 5 MB Church Plants Graduated
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 > Updates on our current couples in the  
    MB planter pipeline: 

 > Jesse and Taylor Schellenberg are engaged in a ministry 
context and feel the call to plant here in BC. They are holding 
off on assessment this month and will likely attend one this 
coming fall. The timing is in the Lord’s hands.

 > Shane and Nikki Fox continue to move forward with the 
credentialing process as they prepare to move to Penticton 
to plant. 

 > Obadiah & Sue Kim have been invited to the Vancouver 
Assessment Centre, and are planting a Korean church within 
House for All Nations. Sonny Mandagie is walking with them 
through this work and is hopeful about a pipeline of Korean 
pastors looking for a spiritual home within the MB family.

> Gospel Coaching & Support    

It’s a joy to collaborate with a diverse range of denominations to 
plant gospel-centred churches. At the same time, our vision for a 
movement of mission and planting within our MB family is no less 
intense. In 2018, we rejoice over the 6 MB couples who are planting 
churches, being coached and receiving task force support, 3 who 
graduated from our support systems, and another 5 couples at 
various stages of preparation leading up to launching a new work. 
In addition, throughout 2018 it was a privilege to work alongside 
John Johnstone, our Indigenous Ambassador, bringing fresh vision 
& grace among First Nations peoples. 

Each church planting story is distinct and it’s truly a joy to watch 
as God calls, equips, and empowers men and women who are 
ready to set out in faithful obedience.  Their stories don’t always 
play out as we anticipate, but there are evidences of grace and 
signs of life even through the shadowlands of planting. A couple 
examples of these alternative-stories:

 > Meta Communities has entered a new season, developing 
a new core team and gathering every Sunday. Dennis W. is 
meeting with pastors & churches, seeking financial & prayer 
support. Willingdon Church has invited two couples to worship 
with Meta and serve on this core team for a season. This 
past Sunday they had 40 people attend – double their usual 
attendance. We continue to have conversations around the 
concept of urban missions and expectations in least-reached/
highly-secular/unaffordable neighbourhoods. Would you 
consider joining Meta in prayer and talking with your church 
leaders about adopting this strategic plant?

 > CityLife joined with Fraserpoint church in Fort Langley, no longer 
gathering at High Street mall. This is to be a season of refocus as 
Fraserpoint looks at planting a church in Abbotsford. This is not 
the story that Jon and Gabrielle Wiebe wanted to write, but one 
we are leaning into in prayer & discernment for next steps.

In January, we started three new Church Planter Incubator training 
courses (in Vancouver, Victoria & Kelowna). These new cohorts 
are in addition to a group that is in their second year of the 2-year 
program. In total, 20 participants are enrolled in this 16-module 
learning journey and a team of 8 trainers share the load of delivering 
this intensive development opportunity.
     
While we’re embracing the opportunities that God has already 
provided, we continue to pray for an abundant outpouring of the 
Holy Spirit that results in bold witness, generous collaboration, and 
sacrificial obedience in response to God’s love demonstrated through 
Jesus’ sacrifice. In that sense, our role is to call out and equip not 
just individual church planters but to see churches mobilized into 
multiplication. Please join us in pleading with God for our cities, our 
province, and our nation, and consider how you might partner with us 
for the sake of the lost and for kingdom advancement.   

Kristian Martens - krism@multiply.net

Reg Toews - regt@multiply.net
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their testimony with their friends.  Prince George and Abbotsford 
have hosted a GO Day.  Our first “Motivated for Mission” retreat was 
held in early January and gathered more than sixty young adult 
leaders from several local churches.  

The Mission Mobilization group enjoyed many opportunities 
to coach, preach, train and develop the missional clarity and 
effectiveness of churches in each BCMB Region.  We celebrate that 
many of our churches generously hosted Long Term Workers on 
MINA (Ministry in North America) and that a new Long Term family 
is being deployed from Northview Church (Abbotsford).  We enjoyed 
working with several B.C. church teams heading to support global 
church planting work.  Likewise, we helped mobilize an urban plunge 
team from Kelowna (Willow Park) to Vancouver (Westside).  We are 
honoured that the MB Chinese Church Association has asked us to 
help them develop more missional vitality in their churches.  One 
active step was to train and debrief the group of more than forty 
young adults who travelled to URBANA 2018.  Finally, we are excited 
to be involved with ongoing ministry development with newcomers 
to Canada from Muslim background nations and a new collaborative 
team taking shape in Abbotsford to prayerfully consider how to reach 
the 30,000 South Asian immigrants with the good news of Christ.  
Global missions is now truly from everywhere to everywhere.

Where do mission-hearted Christian leaders come from?  Local 
churches like yours.  It is fascinating to follow the thread of missional 
development in a person as well as a church.  Andrew, from Prince 
George (Westwood), was growing as a youth leader in his local 
church.  He helped to establish the GO Day which grew out of the 
2017 Prince George AWAKE weekend.  He then went on the ACTION 
trip to Thailand with his pastor and is now serving as the team leader 
for TREK in Ukraine.  As Andrew follows the call of God, it may lead 
him back home to serve in the marketplace as a member of his church 
or to bring the gospel to the ends of the earth.  Either way, our prayer 
is that he will serve as a healthy disciple and a missional leader.  

Greg Laing - gregl@multiply.net

Sam Dick - samd@multiply.net

Fred Sutherland - freds@multiply.net

Jess Driedger-Garcia - jessicag@multiply.net

Thank you, BCMB churches, for the privilege of working with you in 
partnership for the gospel.  Our Mobilization team is committed to 
do whatever we can to help each church be increasingly engaged 
with the mission of God.  We go about this with two coordinated 
approaches: The Short Term Ministry (STM) group, focuses on 
delivering our discipleship on mission pathways, and our Mission 
Mobilization group, focuses on equipping, inspiring and connecting 
local churches to know and pursue their mission calling.  This also 
includes church partnerships and the raising up and sustaining of 
Long Term Workers.

The Short Term group has much to celebrate: Vancouver SOAR was 
enthusiastically hosted by Church on Five (Richmond); we deployed 
an ACTION team to Thailand from Westwood (Prince George), and we 
sent out 17 young adults for 8 months on TREK.  TREK teams abroad 
witnessed many coming to Christ.  More than this, we are humbled to 
discover how the Lord used these programs to further his Kingdom 
here in B.C. as well as overseas.  In TREK 2017/18, for example, we 
placed a team in Canada (for the first time) within Central Heights 
(Abbotsford) that the Lord used to expand outreach onto the 
University of Fraser Valley.  Meanwhile, we discovered that the SOAR 
outreach location in Richmond is being strategically used by the Lord 
as a key part of a new collaborative church planting effort.  

We have recently pioneered initiatives aimed at calling people into 
more active missional living:  PEAK is for those who are entering 
“retirement.”  With record numbers of Canadians in view, there is an 
opportunity to provide a discipleship pathway fitted for people asking: 
“what do I do with the rest of my life?”  PEAK groups have been held 
at Gracepoint and Willingdon.  GO Day was developed to empower 
high school youth to have confidence in the gospel and then to share 

Report from Multiply-
Mobilization for BCMB 

Western Canada 
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Let’s Celebrate Our Shared Impact Globally
Working together in the last year... 

1445 people were mobilized into short-term assignments 
to practically serve growing church plants

People in 41 nations were engaged with the gospel

3000+ people were baptized in new church plants

132 churches were planted globally (a new church every 
third day)

1344 church planters were trained and equipped to support 
a reproducing and multiplying church-planting strategy 

3000+ committed prayer partners were engaged to 
advance the work of church planting

More than 100 denominations across the globe were 
engaged in partnership

Financial Overview for 2017-2018

Revenue by Source:

Churches | 38%

Partners and Planned 
Giving | 16%

Individuals and 
Businesses | 46%

Expenses by Outcome:

Holistic Church 
Planting | 35%

Building Church  
Planting Capacity 

28%

Mobilization 
and Short-Term 

Mission to Support 
Church  Planting 

25%
Training and Team 
Health | 5%

Administration 
7%
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BCMB BIBLE CAMP 
SOCIETY REPORT
by Jonathan Kornelsen, Chair

Because the Lord your God walks in the 
midst of your camp, to deliver you and 
to give up your enemies before you... 
Deuteronomy 23:14

     On behalf of the BCMB Bible Camp Society, 
it is my privilege to share an update about what 
God has been doing in our ministry this past 
season. As a former camper and staff member 
of one of our camps, I can tell you firsthand the 
impact that summer camp has had on my life, 
spiritual walk, and leadership development. But 
instead, I’ll share some of my favourite highlights 
from this past season of ministry.  
     First of all, our camp ministry is all about 
Evangelism. Last year, 4,611 campers attended 
our five MB camps (Bob, Likely, Gardom, 
Pines, Stillwood). That’s 4,611 campers who, 
on a daily basis, heard the gospel, saw it lived 
out in community, and were invited to be a 
part of God’s grand story. Over 2,000 campers 
responded to the gospel and made a decision 
for Christ. This includes first-time commitments, 
re-dedications, and campers making a decision 
to intentionally grow deeper with Jesus over the 
next year. 
     This is the fruit of the gospel. Jesus came to 
seek and save the lost, and last year, hundreds 
of kids came to know Jesus as their Lord and 
Saviour at summer camp. Praise God because 

He’s on the move at camp! Our job as a camp 
ministry is to keep our eyes fixed on Jesus and 
His mission as we boldly proclaim Christ, the only 
name that saves! 
     Secondly, our camp ministry is all about 
Discipleship. Yes, our camps want to be 
fun places where memories and long-
lasting friendships are made, but all of this is 
secondary to the mission we have as churches, 
camps, and a denomination to go and make 
disciples of all nations.
     As I look at our camps, they have each been 
placed in strategic areas around British Columbia 
to partner with the Church in reaching that 
region for Christ. Each one of our camps provides 
amazing discipleship opportunities through 
intentional gospel conversations with caring 
adults who speak truth into campers’ lives. 
Camps are also places of worship where people 
can forget the noise of the world and be still and 
in awe of the Creator and the love He shows us 
through His son, Jesus. 
     Thirdly, our camp ministry is all about 
Leadership Development. Last year, we saw 
just over 350 summer staff members plugged 
into and growing in leadership development 
programs. These programs focus on mentorship, 
spiritual growth, servant leadership, and helping 
young leaders develop patterns of spiritual 
disciplines in their lives.  
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     What I love about our camp directors is that 
they are not afraid to change things up. This 
past year, we saw a shift in some of the camps’ 
leadership development programs as they 
realized the bigger potential these programs 
could have. For example, previously at Stillwood, 
their leadership development programs were 
centred on two elements: service projects and 
counsellor training. This served Stillwood’s 
staffing needs, but it did not always take the 
individual’s development into account. 
     In 2018, Stillwood replaced its work crew and 
CIT programs with a new initiative called the 
Youth Development Program. This program still 
has significant elements of service and training, 
but it has sacrificed some of the work service 
projects for personal and spiritual development. 
This program is in its infancy and will need 
further development, but we are excited to see 
these types of developments and changes. 
     Lastly, as a ministry partner of the BCMB 
Conference of Churches, we are very excited 
about the intentional partnerships that our 
camps have made with some of our MB 
churches. This year, we had roughly 20+ 
churches lean into intentional partnerships 
with our camps, and that’s an amazing sign of 
health and unity of mission. We are so thankful 
for the churches that have invested in camp 
ministry through work projects and supporting 
summer staff. 
     Our thanks to: Willow Park Church, Kelowna 
Gospel Fellowship, River of Life, Valleyview Bible 
Church, Armstrong Bible Chapel, Black Creek 
Community Church, Discovery Community 

Church, Jericho Ridge, Central Community 
Church, Cariboo Bethel, Broadway Church, 
Clearbrook MB, Bakerview MB Church, King Road 
and Gospel Chapel—just to name a few.  
     I believe that many of these relationships are 
a result of the hard work of our camp directors 
and staff who are trying to find more ways to 
partner with our churches. Our camps are taking 
intentional steps to invite MB pastors as guest 
speakers for summer camp and retreats, and 
letting campers know the importance of attending 
a local church, kid’s club, or youth ministry 
as part of their ongoing growth and spiritual 
development. 
     As I reflect on the last year, there is a lot I could 
have covered in this report—from governance 
structures to fundraising initiatives, etc., but I 
would rather marvel at how God has worked and 
continues to work at camp. We have no reason to 
boast except to boast in the Lord. 
     As we venture into a new season of fruitful 
ministry, I want to encourage you, our MB 
churches, to find more ways to partner with our 
camps—and for our directors and camps to find 
more ways to partner with our churches. Together, 
we have been tasked with a huge responsibility 
and role in God’s Kingdom. 

“Our job as a camp ministry is 
to keep our eyes fixed on Jesus 
and His mission as we boldy 
proclaim Christ, the only 
name that saves!”
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5 MB camps 

Camp Bob

Camp Likely

Gardom Lake Bible Camp & Retreat Centre

Pines Bible Camp

Stillwood Camp & Conference Centre

In 2018

4,611 campers
    attended

Over 

2,000 campers
responded to the gospel 

— first-time commitments 
 — re-dedications 
   — growing deeper
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CAMP BOB
CAMPFIRE MINISTRIES
by Les Klassen, Executive Director

     Our summer 2018 theme, ‘Created for a 
Purpose’ highlighted Ephesians 2:10: For we are 
God’s Masterpiece…created anew in Christ Jesus 
so we can do the good things God prepared in 
advance for us to do.
     As a result of proclaiming the gospel message, 
lives were changed at Camp Bob this summer! 
Sixty of the 102 decisions for Jesus Christ (59%) 
were from non-churched campers. Our camper 
base is varied and widespread, covering all of 
Vancouver Island—from Port Hardy in the north 
to Victoria in the south. Nearly half (48%) of our 
campers came from non-churched families. 
     In an effort to connect more with the 
community, we hosted our Annual Open House 
this year on a Sunday, providing people who 
normally work on Saturdays the opportunity 
to attend. We experienced great community 
participation, feeding upwards of 180 people 
with a BBQ lunch. Many came just to see what 
kind of camp they had signed their kids up for 
and they were both impressed and set at ease as 
they met our staff and became acquainted with 
Camp Bob.
     Our school programs during May and June 
continue to grow as we partner with public 
and private schools in creating both Student 
Adventure Days and Outdoor Learning 
environments for school groups wishing to hold 
classes outdoors.

     Over a 6-week period before and after 
summer camps, we had 561 students from six 
public schools and three private or Christian 
schools attend our programs.
     These included two weeks of camp for Korean 
students, some of whom had just arrived in 
Canada. They went from the suburbs of Korea 
to the wilderness of Camp Bob within the 
timeframe of a week. As you can imagine, the 
wilderness was beyond anything they had ever 
experienced. Pre-summer school programs are 
also a great catalyst for students who may want 
to return to Camp Bob as campers, where they 
can experience the full Summer Adventure.
     Each year, we have the amazing opportunity 
to financially assist children and youth who 
would not otherwise be able to attend summer 
camp. We are continually encouraged by the 
number of people who support our Camper 
Bursary program. This year, we were privileged 
to help 41 campers by providing $11,000 to 
families in need.
     Our Campfire Leadership Training program 
(CLT) is largely influential in training leaders and 
staff who return to Camp Bob summer after 
summer. They move up through the ranks from 
camper, to CLT, to program staff, to program 
directors. Many of our returning staff aspire 
to long-term camp involvement. Our staff are 
our greatest asset—not the buildings, not the 
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infrastructure, not the boats or the equipment, 
not the toys—but our staff. Without them, we 
could never run camp. It’s the testimony of Jesus 
Christ living in them that impacts campers 
for the Kingdom of God—and they are worth 
investing in!  

40% of our staff are connected to MB 
Churches.

60% come from other denominations and 
churches predominately from Vancouver 
Island.

     Camp Bob has the privilege of partnering 
not only with the Central and North Island 
churches, but with two Lower Mainland 
churches as well. Jericho Ridge in Langley and 
Central Community Church in Chilliwack plug 
in annually with Camp Bob for projects and 
family camps. We thank all the churches who 
partner with us for their support and interest 
that undoubtedly creates a positive dynamic and 
life-giving impact in their own communities.
     As a result of the passion, involvement, and 
ongoing financial and prayer support of so 
many people—including our own Board and 
Local Leadership Team—Camp Bob continues 
to make improvements to our infrastructure 
and programs. That dedication and devotion has 
played out in a spin-off benefit this year. At the 

Annual BC Camps Conference held this winter, 
Camp Bob received an award for ‘Most Improved 
Camp’. Little by little, Camp Bob becomes a 
more permanent place in the forest.
     If you’ve never been to Camp Bob, we invite 
you to visit and walk the land where the Spirit of 
God resides, to feel the presence of the Creator, 
and to breathe in the freshness of life where 
so many encounter the love of God through 
tangible experiences with Him in the wilderness.
     Camp Bob carries a momentum and a 
passion to press into the vision God has given for 
this place. There is a desire to persevere, to run 
the race well, and to finish strong! Our passion 
remains to equip youth to go out from here and 
be world changers within their own cultures. 
Camp Bob is not just a place to come to…it’s a 
place to go out from!

617 summer campers

 561 students through school programs

102 decisions for Christ
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     Summer 2018 was exciting for us to get into 
the full swing of camp again after cancelling 
our 2017 season due to the wildfires in our 
region. It was great to have the momentum and 
excitement from campers, and the energy from 
staff and volunteers as they recognized how hard 
it was to miss a year! 
     We hosted 113 campers this year and were 
able to sponsor 23 kids through the generosity of 
Cariboo Bethel Church. This special sponsorship 
was for families who were affected by the 2017 
wildfires and would not be able to afford sending 
their children to Camp Likely. This sponsorship 
allowed the campers to pay an average $50 
for the week. We loved offering a fun and 
meaningful week for these kids who had such a 
terribly hard summer previously. 
     Our campers learned about our theme which 
was, “Farm Life”. This was done through our chapel, 
cabin devotions, and campfire times. We shared 
parables that Jesus taught about farming which 
relate to faith, salvation, and how to view God. 
     We had 20 campers make first-time 
commitments to the Lord, and 17 made re-
commitments to follow Jesus. The kids who 
made these commitments especially engaged 
in the work of the Holy Spirit, and it was evident 
that these were meaningful and life-changing 
commitments that were made. 

     With the cancellation of the 2017 camp 
season, our facilities hadn’t been used regularly 
for a whole year. We saw the age of our camp as 
our generator, freezer, and other facilities either 
quit working or worked less than satisfactory. It 
forced us to be creative in how to carry out the 
camp program without some of the necessities 
for a few hours. 
     We continue to build new cabins and we 
anticipate and hope that we will be able to use 
them (at least 4 of them) for the 2019 summer 
season. We are having work bees that will help 
move the old cabins and set up the new ones 
with electrical and plumbing. 

Our Team

     This year, we had 19 regular volunteers and staff 
throughout our summer season. Unfortunately, 
we were short staffed in key leadership positions 
such as Lead Female Counsellor and Lifeguard. 
Our staff and volunteer team worked hard to fill 
in the gaps and give all of their energy, talents, 
and time. It was a fantastic team that was 
tight-knit, growing spiritually, and engaged in 
the camp program! I loved the team that God 
brought together, and regardless of not having 
enough staff, we had enough talent, focus, and 
excitement for the gospel.

by Kate Reid, Director

CAMP LIKELY
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Summer Highlights

     Our staff were mature and ready to do what 
God had called them to. It made our team 
dynamics easy and effective, and as a result, 
our staff team grew quite close and we were 
united by the Spirit. Our team was engaged in 
evangelism in staff devotions, cabin devotions, 
and everyday camp life! It was exciting to see 
their desire for Jesus to be known to these 
kids. Our teen camp was meaningful as our 
campers heard from Terry Fehr, and barriers 
toward God and His love were broken down 
throughout the week. 

113 campers

 23 kids sponsored

19 staff & volunteers

     2018 was an exciting summer as we watched 
God work, despite not having enough. We 
learned dependency on Him in times of need 
for staff, energy, and wisdom. I am thankful for 
the work God has done this summer and will 
continue to do through the people involved in 
Camp Likely.
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     The summer 2018 camp season was filled with 
new friends, adventure, fun, growth, and learning 
about God’s love for us. 
     One of my fondest memories was when a 
group of campers from our Teen Week asked 
if they could have a question and answer time 
about the Bible. Our staff stepped up and it was 
a rich learning time for both staff and campers. 
It was moving to have staff say they wanted to 
continue learning so they can have answers to 
the tough questions that were brought up. 
     Camp is such a fertile ground for growth, 
challenge, engagement, and transformation. 
Please keep praying for the Spirit to move and 
lives to be changed. We are so grateful to be in a 
place where we get to share God’s love for us and 
see young people grow. 

Summer Theme

     Our summer theme, ‘To the Fullest’ was based 
on Ephesians 3:19: “…and to know this love that 
surpasses knowledge—that you may be filled to 
the measure of all the fullness of God.”
     We invited campers and staff to explore 
what it means to invite and allow Jesus to be 
the guiding force in their lives. When we are 
connected to our Creator, we are able to live 
“to the fullest”.  We pray that campers and staff 
experienced the love of Jesus Christ through 
relationship, testimonies, and studying the Word.

by Rikk Kieft, Director

GARDOM LAKE BIBLE 
CAMP & RETREAT CENTRE

Campers & Camperships

     We had a record-breaking number of 1,754 
campers in 2018. Our main camp had 1,454 
campers attend through nine weeks of camp 
(including Pee Wee, Squirt Camp, and Day 
Camp). Encounter had 233 campers attend 
during nine weeks of camp. The final week of 
August, we welcomed 67 youth through SYC. We 
also had a waitlist of 20 campers that we were 
not able to get into a week of camp.
     We gave out 80 camperships to those that 
needed financial assistance. Fifty-seven of 
these camperships were sponsored through 
individual donations, while 23 were sponsored 
through local churches. This is a true honor and 
privilege to have the support of a community 
that helps send kids to camp. Most of these kids 
are from tough backgrounds and to have three 
meals a day and the freedom to run around 
God’s creation without any worries for a week 
warms my heart. Thank You!  

Camp Projects & Lodge Expansion

     The lodge expansion took some significant 
steps forward as we had insulation, electrical, 
plumbing, mechanical, drywall, and the sprinkler 
system worked on throughout the spring 
and summer. Other upgrades included the 
ampitheatre, zipline, laser tag, New Quatro, 
sauna, and a new deck and eating area extension 
at Encounter.
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     It is a race to finish our lodge expansion and 
we see the end in sight. In 2012, we set out with 
an ambitious goal to expand our lodge to meet 
the needs of a growing camp. We are able to 
serve and sleep 250 people on our site, yet we 
have not had space to feed and host all of them 
in one place. The vision for the lodge expansion 
includes all the necessary steps to update and 
expand our kitchen, double our eating area, and 
create a multi-purpose room (aka the chapel). 
There are still many things to be done, however, 
it is amazing how much has been accomplished.  
     We are pleased to share that we have not 
incurred debt with this huge building project 
and have only built as the funds have come in. 
It will take approximately $400,000 to finish 
this project. We are eagerly anticipating the day 
we can have all our summer staff and campers 
under one roof and can’t wait to celebrate with 
our faithful supporters.     

Staff

     GLBC had a full crew to support our campers 
and program with 68 staff members. It was 
exciting to welcome many new staff members 
who had gone through the junior staff 
program and now returned as cabin leaders. 
Our leadership team consisted of many GLBC 
veterans. There were 77 junior staff throughout 
the summer, which was a record. Due to the 
number of applicants, we added a junior staff 

assistant to ensure that there was enough 
support to mentor and lead our junior staff team. 
     We had 15 speakers over the summer, and a 
few speakers that completed two weeks at camp. 
We are grateful for the many prayer warriors who 
prayed for and encouraged our staff through 
care packages and messages. We had 12 staff go 
to university or college after camp.

Finances  
     We want to send out a huge THANK YOU to 
our supporters. We did not get our government 
funding this year due to signing the attestation. 
Yet, through our supporters, we were able to pay 
our staff and give full stipends to our volunteers. 
Our operations funding dipped significantly as 
it always does at the end of summer when we 
pay our bills, scholarships, and stipends. We had 
a busy fall which brought in needed funds. It has 
also been difficult as minimum wage went up 
significantly in early June.

Why we do camp!     
     Through the Grace of God, we had 792 
campers share that they made spiritual 
decisions or commitments to follow Jesus 
and His teachings. 333 of those were first-
time decisions to follow Christ and 459 re-
commitments in making Jesus #1 in their lives. 
     We were also blessed to have three staff 
baptisms this summer. These staff members 
wanted to take their faith to the next level and 
what a privilege to be able to be a part of their 
journey in this act of obedience. We had a 
service with family, friends, church leaders, and 
camp staff there to witness and support these 
individuals. We are in awe of the God who guides 
us and the community of people who pray for us. 
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     We were privileged this past summer to 
participate in God’s 55th year of Kingdom work 
at Pines Bible Camp. As we look back on our 
2018 season, we stand in awe of what God did 
amongst us, through us, and most often, despite 
of us. 
     Our theme last summer was “To the ends of 
the earth,” from Acts 1:8. God gave us a vision of 
Pines Bible Camp as a runway—as a saving and 
sending ground. And so, our focus was not only 
on the gospel’s saving power, but on its sending 
power. We emphasized that as the gospel 
transforms us into witnesses, the Spirit gives us 
boldness. Just like the Samaritan woman, we 
can’t help but go back to our people and our 
village to testify to what we have seen and heard.
 
Staff 

     We began our summer with staff training on 
July 1st with just barely enough staff. We were 
still in desperate need of a lifeguard and several 
more senior cabin leaders. Halfway through staff 
training, our second lifeguard came through, as 
well as more senior cabin leaders to bring us just 
over what we needed.
     The Lord carved out a unique team this year, 
with many new cabin leaders, a new head cook, 
and a full returning team of program staff. There 
was unity through the Spirit that I hadn’t seen 
before. I was blessed by the common occurrence 
of spontaneous prayer meetings and times of 

by Ryley Heppner, former Director

PINES 
BIBLE CAMP

worship and study initiated by our program 
staff—and even at times by cabin leaders 
themselves. 

Campers 

     We were overjoyed to see our camper 
numbers rise slightly from last year, from 300 
to 351. Through Bible studies, camp speakers, 
cabin leader testimonies, and all of the other 
moments, we saw 62 brand new commitments 
to Christ, 69 re-commitments to Christ, and 
35 Christ-centred decisions (i.e. praying more, 
reading the Bible more, forgiving someone, etc.). 
On top of that, every one of the 351 campers 
heard the gospel twice a day for five days 
(through Bible studies and speakers) at the very 
least. Every single one of them went home with 
a new personalized ESV Bible. Throughout the 
summer, we received emails and pictures from 
Christian and non-Christian parents of their kids 
at home reading their Bibles. 

Sponsorships 

     As many are aware, Grand Forks was hit extra 
hard last spring with flooding. For the camp, 
the result was a loss of land and beach access, 
but also an inpouring of camper sponsorship 
requests. Many more requests came to us this 
summer because other outlets in town that 
normally sponsor were incapacitated by the 
flood damage. 
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     When our churches and community were 
made aware of the extra need for sponsorships, 
by God’s grace, they came through and we were 
given so much sponsorship money from private 
and corporate donors that every single child and 
family that needed sponsorship was covered—
and sponsorship money is still left over for this 
next year. Praise God! 

Family Camp 

     We were blessed at our annual family camp 
by having 38 families register and attend. 
Last year, we were blown away by 18 families 
registering. This year, the Lord opened the 
floodgates. Every cabin was full, most of our RV 
park was full, and we even had families staying in 
our own homes and in hotels in town. 
     We also had local buy-in that has been rare in 
past years. Many local MB families were on site 
every day and our local MB church moved their 
Sunday service to Pines for a weekend. 

Volunteers 

     We also saw an increase this year in 
volunteer help, outside of cabin leading and 
dish pit. Several local churches sent work crews 
through the spring. Two families from a nearby 
town relocated to camp for the majority of 

the summer to clean, provide first aid, build 
structures, and other tasks. Our local MB church 
volunteered to take care of kitchen scheduling 
and food pickups. And even a local police officer 
came on days off to mow lawns. We had help 
from Christian and non-Christian volunteers all 
spring and summer. The Lord knows we could 
not have done it without them. 
     All this to say, again, we are blown away and 
thankful for another summer of ministry, and 
another display of God’s awesome and saving 
power. We pray that He received and will 
continue to receive all of the glory. 

Prayer

     More than any support you could possibly 
offer us, we would be most blessed if you would 
join us in continual prayer! 
     Here are some of our deepest desires and 
immediate needs:

 ▶ Pray for our new director and his family, that 
they would settle in well to the new position 
and community

 ▶ Pray that we would be a useful tool in the 
Lord’s ministry to all of the groups that we 
will host this upcoming spring and summer

 ▶ Pray that the Lord would again bless us with 
a spring and summer staff who are hungry 
for the things of Jesus.

351 campers

 62 new committments to Christ

38 families for family camp
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     These past 12 months have gone by very 
quickly, and yet so much has happened. One 
year ago, my family and I were in Saskatchewan 
packing up our lives at Redberry Bible Camp 
and making preparations for our move to BC. It 
was also a tumultuous time as my wife, Tracie, 
was completing chemotherapy treatments for a 
surprise cancer scare. 
     As a family, we are so happy to celebrate that 
Tracie has been clear from her cancer for more 
than a year, our son Anthony has transitioned 
into a new school that he enjoys, and I have been 
incredibly blessed to have the opportunity to 
serve at Stillwood. 
     Although it has never been my intention to be 
an agent of change, my existence, personality, 
and prior experience have led to some changes 
here at Stillwood. This is coupled with the 
retirement of Harry and Gail Edwards, who built 
Stillwood to be the fantastic place it is today. The 
loss of such icons like Harry and Gail will not be 
easily replaced. 
     There is one key constant that has continued 
to persist here at Stillwood. That is our ministry 
impact. Stillwood runs summer camp programs 
for six weeks in the summer, and this past 
summer we had a four-year high with 1,835 
campers attending. Stillwood’s summer camp 
numbers are not limited to the programs 
we run ourselves. Our summer camp church 

by David Seely, Executive Director

STILLWOOD CAMP 
& CONFERENCE CENTRE

partnerships saw another 476 campers, for a 
total of 2,311 summer campers here at Stillwood 
in 2018. 
     In addition, Stillwood provides several retreats 
and events throughout the year, such as SHINE 
youth retreat, a ladies retreat, and a young adults 
retreat. Altogether, Stillwood’s programs hosted 
3,184 children and youth in 2018. 
     With our summer camp programs, we have 
historically taken two statistics as a measure of 
the missional impact of our programs. These two 
metrics are: first-time commitments and re-
commitments. 
     In the 2018 summer camp programs, we 
saw God work in the lives of our campers 
in such a way that 56% of them made a 
commitment to Christ. This included 347 first-
time commitments and 680 re-commitments. 
It is truly amazing to see camp ministry continue 
to have an impact in God’s Kingdom in real 
concrete ways.
     Early in February, the Stillwood leadership 
team, in coordination with the BCMB Bible 
Camp Society went through a process of 
developing our mission, values, and vision. 
While the Stillwood team is still wordsmithing 
the mission statement, we did come up with 
five core values that we intend on following as 
directives for all of our planning and decision-
making processes. 
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We are a ministry centred on Jesus Christ, 
Discipleship, Integrity, Excellence, and 
Community.
     These values will be the core elements that 
drive our ministry forward. Stillwood’s value set 
is not a list that simply guides our summer and 
retreat programs—it guides our organization 
throughout the year: creating the curriculum for 
our programs, informing the building projects 
we take on, and dictating the ways in which 
we interact with our guests. It is a directive that 
guides all aspects of the ministry of Stillwood. 
     Stillwood is a place that operates year-round 
and is host to tens of thousands of guests 
throughout the year. In 2018, Stillwood served 
17,290 guests with guests staying on site for 
321 nights. We are blessed to be a place where 
people of many cultures can come to see God’s 
creation in a camp that is dedicated to Christian 
ministry. We are very aware that every guest 
coming through Stillwood is an opportunity 
to build a new relationship. Many of these 
relationships grow over time and result in 
significant ministry opportunities. 
     We are well into planning for this summer’s 
programs and are excited for everything that this 
year will bring. The theme for summer 2019 is 
MADE NEW. “Therefore, if anyone is in Christ, the 
new creation has come: The old has gone, the 
new is here!” 2 Cor 5-17. 
     Everyone at Stillwood is eager to continue 
to do the great work that God has directed us 
to do, and we know that our success is really 
only a reflection of our Father who enables us. 
Praise God.

1832 2015

1820 2016

1801 2017

1835 2018

Summer Camp Registrations

11998 2015

9682 2016

10595 2017

17290 2018

Guest Comparison 

311 2015

268 2016

284 2017

321 2018

Nights Booked
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Rules 
of Order

General Guidelines

1. We strive for unity and respect, involving 
participation of all assembled, as we 
deliberate decisions that shape the 
future of our conference. 

2. Delegates should stand to speak at a 
nearby microphone. Please use the 
following protocol:

 ▶ Wait for acknowledgement by the 
moderator.

 ▶ State your name, church and 
community you come from.

 ▶ Address the moderator. Delegates 
may not dialogue with each other 
on the floor.

3. Keep remarks to the point. Avoid 
repeating statements already made by 
another delegate.

4. Take care to confine remarks to the 
motion or resolution under discussion.

5. A delegate may speak to an issue 
more than once, unless there are other 
delegates who wish to address an issue. 
A delegate should not ask for the floor 
more than 3 times on one issue. The 
mover of a motion may answer questions 
to a motion as often as they are raised.

6. Individuals other than delegates may 
be permitted to speak, subject to 
the decision of the moderator. The 
assembled delegates may, by a simple 
majority vote, over-ride the decision of 
the chair. 

7. Only delegates are permitted to vote.

8. In general, Roberts Rules of Order will 
be followed. However, in an effort to 
build an atmosphere of collegiality and 
community, Consensus tools may be used.
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Recommendations
for Convention 2019

1. That all ministry reports be approved. 

2. That the 2019 income budget for the 
churches’ support, through their Ministry 
Commitment, be set at $1,600,000.

3. That we appoint Loewen Kruse 
Chartered Accountants as the 
accounting firm to perform a review of 
the financial records and prepare the 
financial statements for the year 2019.

4. That the financial statements, prepared 
by Loewen Kruse Chartered Accountants 
for the fiscal year 2018, be approved as 
presented.

5. That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches close CityLife Church 
in Abbotsford and release them from 
membership.

6. That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches close Discovery 
Church of Ridge Meadows in Maple 
Ridge and release them from 
membership.

7. That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches close Harrison Gospel 
Chapel in Harrison Hot Springs and 
release them from membership.

8. That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches welcome Northview 
Community Church, East Abbotsford 
Campus.

9. That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches supports Central 
Community Church in assuming 
responsibility for the establishment of a 
church in Harrison, including the transfer 
of property for gospel use.
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STEWARDSHIP ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE REPORT
by Ron Born

As each has received a gift, use it to serve 
one another, as good stewards of God’s 
varied grace: whoever speaks, as one who 
speaks oracles of God; whoever serves, as 
one who serves by the strength that God 
supplies—in order that in everything God 
may be glorified through Jesus Christ. To 
him belong glory and dominion forever and 
ever. Amen.   1 Peter 4:10-11

     Peter’s words remind me that the gifts God 
gives us are meant to bless others. And although 
this text doesn’t mention finances in the list of 
gifts, we know from other Bible passages that 
they too are meant to bless others.  
     Our BCMB Conference has certainly been 
blessed over the years. We have an abundance 
of resources, we have a stable government, and 
a relatively healthy economy. Such environment 
affords our churches the opportunity to thrive 
and grow. But, as the verses above remind us, 
with such blessing comes responsibility. 
     As such, the Stewardship Advisory Committee 
is tasked by the BCMB Executive Board with the 
responsibility to review various loan requests, 
issues, and other matters related to the financial 
condition of the BC Conference and churches.  
Our committee is blessed to have members 
who have specific understanding and sound 
business practices in various related fields: 
from construction, to administration, to wealth 
management. Our team evaluates and discerns 

these financial matters and makes appropriate 
recommendations to the Executive Board for 
their review and final decision. 
     Throughout the year, we review the BC 
Conference financial budget to ensure that 
income and expenses are trending to a positive 
outcome at year-end. We are pleased to report 
that at the end of the fiscal year, operationally, 
our revenues exceeded our expenses. Many 
thanks to the churches who have raised 
their level of commitment or exceeded their 
contributions to our Conference. 
     Over 60% of these contributions flow directly 
to three of our partner agencies: Multiply, 
Columbia Bible College, and the BCMB Bible 
Camp Society. Without the churches’ support, 
we would not be able to advance God’s Kingdom 
through church planting, equipping and 
preparing future leaders, and sharing the gospel 
and discipling young people.  
     One of the new challenges in this coming 
year will be to understand the implications of 
the new collaborative model and single-stream 
funding paradigm our BCMB Conference is 
establishing with our sister provinces and the 
CCMBC. We are excited to see how God will open 
new possibilities to utilize our joined resources 
for the furthering of His Kingdom across Canada 
and beyond. 
     A new area the Stewardship Advisory 
Committee worked on this past year was in 
establishing more clarity for the Designated 
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Gift Policy. A recent estate donation request 
highlighted the need for further clarity to 
process and manage such gifts. This policy, 
when complete, could be used as a resource for 
churches and serve as a guideline for planned 
giving and accepting estate donations. 
     The committee continues to accept and 
review mortgage applications from churches 
and present their recommendations to the 
Executive Board. Periodically, we review the 
mortgage application forms to ensure the 
process is as efficient and thorough as possible. 
The churches that applied and received 
mortgages this year are Jericho Ridge and Metro 
Community Church. 
     Some applications and requests for funding 
for purchases and renovations are pending. 
We encourage applicants to provide us with 
at least 4-6 months lead time to review 
applications. We realize that the volatile nature 
of the real estate market often creates last-

“We are pleased to report 
that...our revenues exceeded 
our expenses. Many thanks to 
the churches who have raised 
their level of commitment or 
exceeded their contributions...”

minute opportunities, however, we must do 
our due diligence and ensure churches do not 
overextend themselves and risk future viability. 
     We thank our Lord and Saviour for how He 
has provided for us, and we pray for wisdom 
and discernment as we continue to serve our 
BCMB churches. 
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BCMB 
Financial Summary

Budget 2019 Budget 2018 Actual 2018 Difference

INCOME

Ministry Commitment 
from Churches

$1,600,000 $1,500,000 $1,609,513 $109,513

Other Income $74,000 $90,040 $81,110 - $8,930

Donations, Fundraising 
& Support

$6,500 $37,500 $11,146 - $26,354

Recoveries $50,000 $91,445 $55,961 - $35,484

TOTAL INCOME $1,730,500 $1,718,985 $1,757,731 $38,746

EXPENSES

Developing Leaders $647,348 $662,131 $672,309 - $10,178

Multiplying Churches $528,000 $495,000 $495,000 $0

Resourcing Ministries $42,800 $56,760 $51,205 $5,555

Building Community $176,500 $155,400 $143,534 $11,867

Executive Boards & Committees $29,100 $7,800 $11,374 - $3,574

Administration & Office $307,252 $309,186 $348,111 - $38,925

TOTAL EXPENSES $1,731,000 $1,686,276 $1,721,532 - $35,256

DIFFERENCE - $500 $32,709 $36,199 $74,002
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2018 Actual Church Giving 
to Ministry Committment

Amount of Ministry
 Commitment

Number of 
Churches

Percentage of 
all Churches

Total Ministry 
Commitment

Percentage of 
Total Ministry 
Commitment

$0 21 21.43% $0 0%

$1 - $9,999 34 34.69% $144,504 8.98%

$10,000 - $49,999 36 36.73% $720,736 44.78%

$50,000 - $99,999 5 5.10% $339,274 21.08%

$100,000 and over 2 2.04% $405,000 25.16%

98 100% $1,609,513 100%
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2018 Actual 
Source of Revenue

Amount Percentage of 
Total

Ministry Commitment 
from Churches $1,609,513 91.57%

Other Income $81,110 4.61%

Recoveries $55,961 3.18%

Donations, Fundraising 
& Support $11,146 0.63%

$1,757,731 100%
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES

Non-Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2018
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INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches  

We have reviewed the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements of The B.C. Conference of
the Mennonite Brethren Churches which comprise the non-consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2018 and the non-consolidated statements of changes in fund balances, operations and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Practitioner's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our
review.  We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements,  which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily
consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying
analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, church properties (Note 5) should
be presented at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations on the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements is to either
overstate or understate the church properties on the non-consolidated statement of financial position.
Due to the lack of information available to The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches, the
amount of the misstatement for church properties is not determinable on the non-consolidated statements
of financial position and changes in fund balances.

(continues)
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Independent Practitioner's Review Engagement Report to the Members of The B.C. Conference of the
Mennonite Brethren Churches  (continued)

Qualified Conclusion

Based on our review, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Conclusion
paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these financial statements do
not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite
Brethren Churches as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 9 of the financial statements which describes the contingent liability related to
the loans guaranteed by the Conference for its member churches.

Burnaby, British Columbia
March 21, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2018 2017

(Note 16)

ASSETS
CURRENT

Cash and cash equivalents $ 322,115 $ 93,758 $ 415,873 $ 369,442
Accounts receivable 1,148 - 1,148 9,474
Recoverable from government

authorities - GST - - - 2,590
Prepaid expenses 50,857 - 50,857 59,077

374,120 93,758 467,878 440,583

DUE FROM RELATED
PARTIES (Note 3) 86,500 - 86,500 258,989

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 4) 29,592 - 29,592 34,431

CHURCH PROPERTIES (Note 5) 394,980 - 394,980 179,185

$ 885,192 $ 93,758 $ 978,950 $ 913,188

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
CURRENT

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 48,759 $ - $ 48,759 $ 19,181

Due to related parties (Note 3) 27,000 - 27,000 81,012
Deferred revenue 25,665 - 25,665 24,818
Deferred contributions 1,841 - 1,841 1,841

103,265 - 103,265 126,852

FUND BALANCES - page 4
Unrestricted 781,927 - 781,927 681,669
Internally restricted (Note 6) - 11,000 11,000 12,000
Externally restricted (Note 6) - 82,758 82,758 92,667

781,927 93,758 875,685 786,336

$ 885,192 $ 93,758 $ 978,950 $ 913,188

CONTINGENT LIABILITY (Note 9)

LEASE COMMITMENT (Note 10)

FUNDS HELD IN TRUST (Note 11)

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

_____________________________ Director        _____________________________ Director

See notes to non-consolidated financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2018 2017

FUND BALANCES -
BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 681,669 $ 104,667 $ 786,336 $ 865,951

Deficiency of revenue over
expenses - page 5 (96,537) (29,909) (126,446) (79,615)

Interfund transfer (Note 7) (19,000) 19,000 - -
Recognition of church

property (Note 5) 215,795 - 215,795 -

FUND BALANCES - END OF
YEAR - page 3 $ 781,927 $ 93,758 $ 875,685 $ 786,336

See notes to non-consolidated financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2018 2017

REVENUE
Ministry commitment from

churches $ 1,609,513 $ - $ 1,609,513 $ 1,415,265
Event income 61,493 - 61,493 65,167
Recoveries 55,961 - 55,961 73,922
MBCC Association - 13,862 13,862 16,533
Fundraising 6,520 - 6,520 7,098
Donations 5,126 - 5,126 100
Miscellaneous income 3,685 50 3,735 5,654
Interest income - 1,521 1,521 5,695

1,742,298 15,433 1,757,731 1,589,434

EXPENSES
Ministry partnerships 825,300 - 825,300 790,294
Wages and benefits -

Conference 411,703 - 411,703 366,228
Administration -

Conference (Note 8) 151,435 - 151,435 197,141
Event expenses 129,323 - 129,323 140,918
Training and development 42,505 20,000 62,505 57,167
Ministry expenses 56,760 - 56,760 49,718
Church media licenses 37,655 - 37,655 36,121
MBCC Association - 24,523 24,523 17,703
Board and committee

expenses 11,374 - 11,374 7,927
Other facilities administration 8,535 - 8,535 4,247
Memberships and licenses 1,600 - 1,600 1,585
Pastoral emotional health

expenses - 819 819 -

1,676,190 45,342 1,721,532 1,669,049

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSES
FROM OPERATIONS 66,108 (29,909) 36,199 (79,615)

OTHER EXPENSES  
Write-down for uncollectible

loan (Note 3) 162,645 - 162,645 -

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUE
OVER EXPENSES - page 4 $ (96,537) $ (29,909) $ (126,446) $ (79,615)

See notes to non-consolidated financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

2018 2017
(Note 16)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Deficiency of revenue over expenses - page 5 $ (126,446) $ (79,615)
 Items not affecting cash:

Amortization 11,381 10,458
 Loss on disposal of capital assets 2,764 -
 Write-down for uncollectible loan 162,645 -

50,344 (69,157)

 Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable 8,326 35,967

 Recoverable from government authorities - GST 2,590 970
 Prepaid expenses 8,220 (6,235)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 29,577 (51,765)
 Deferred revenue 847 645
 Deferred contributions - 1,841

49,560 (18,577)

 Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 99,904 (87,734)

INVESTING ACTIVITY
 Purchase of capital assets (9,306) (1,246)

FINANCING ACTIVITY
Advances to related parties (44,167) (234,117)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW 46,431 (323,097)

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 369,442 692,539

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 415,873 $ 369,442
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:

 Unrestricted cash $ 320,274 $ 262,934
 Internally restricted cash 11,000 12,000
 Externally restricted cash 11,681 23,110
 Externally restricted cash deposits with another organization 72,918 71,398

$ 415,873 $ 369,442

See notes to non-consolidated financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

1. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION    

The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches (the "Conference") exists to join God in
building healthy churches that transform communities with His love and truth. The Conference
operates programs and ministries to assist its local member churches.

The Conference is incorporated under the Societies Act of British Columbia and is a registered
charity under the Income Tax Act and as such is exempt from income taxes.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The non-consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

The Conference does not prepare consolidated financial statements for its controlled entity,
Columbia Bible College (Note 3).

These non-consolidated financial statements present only the financial position, changes in fund
balances, results of operations and changes in cash flows for the Conference. Individual member
churches and camps within the Conference account for their own financial position, changes in fund
balances, results of operations and change in cash flows, as well as any assets that may be on title
with the Conference, but for which the churches and camps have beneficial ownership.

Fund Accounting

The Conference follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

The Operating Fund accounts for the operations, administration and capital assets of the
Conference and reports its unrestricted resources. 

The Restricted Funds account for funds externally restricted by contributors to be used for specific
ministries and funds internally restricted by the board of directors for designated purposes.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue Recognition

Externally restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue of the
Operating Fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Externally restricted amounts
can only be used for purposes designated by the contributor. All other externally restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund in the year received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the Operating Fund when received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

Event income is recognized as revenue when the events are held.

Recoveries are recognized as revenue when invoiced which typically coincides with payment by the
Conference of the related expense to be recovered. Recoveries pertaining to annual group licenses
are recognized over the term of the license. Any amounts received in advance are reflected in
deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash balances with banks, and cash deposits
with another organization. Any term deposits or similar contractual instruments that are cashable
and and a maturity term of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents.

Capital Assets and Amortization

Capital assets purchased are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets
contributed are recorded at the fair value as of the date of receipt. Amortization is provided at
various rates on a straight-line basis designed to amortize the assets over the estimated useful lives.
The amortization rates are as follows:

Computer equipment 4 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements 6 years

The Conference regularly reviews its capital assets to remove those no longer in use.

Capital assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are used
in operations.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contributed Services and Materials

Volunteers assist the Conference in carrying out its ministry, programs and operations. Due to the
difficulty in determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the financial
statements.

Contributed materials or gifts-in-kind are only recognized when their fair value is reasonably
determinable, with such items recorded at fair value on the date of the contribution.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Material uncertainties involving management
estimates include the determination of the historical costs of land and building transferred to the
Conference's books after a member church closes down (Note 5).

3. RELATED PARTIES        

The following is a summary of amounts due from related parties:

2018 2017

BCMB Bible Camp Society (related by significant
influence) $ 85,288 $ 67,267

Stillwood Camp and Conference Centre (related by
significant influence) 1,212 12,838

The Pines Bible Camp Association (related by significant
influence) 162,645 168,537

Write-down for uncollectible loan (162,645) -

Campfire Ministries (related by significant influence) - 3,403

Gardom Lake Bible Camp (related by significant
influence) - 6,944

$ 86,500 $ 258,989

During the year, an allowance was established for the $162,645 balance due from The Pines Bible
Camp Association due to uncollectibility. All other amounts due from/to related parties are non-
interest bearing and have no repayment terms.

The following is a summary of amounts due to related parties:

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

3. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Columbia Bible College (controlled organization) $ 26,250 $ 39,109

Campfire Ministries (related by significant influence) 750 -

Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches
(related by common membership) - 41,903

$ 27,000 $ 81,012

The Conference has significant influence over the following not-for-profit organizations: Campfire
Ministries; Gardom Lake Bible Camp; BCMB Bible Camp Society; Stillwood Camp and Conference
Centre; and The Pines Bible Camp Association. All these camps are registered charities under the
Income Tax Act and as such exempt from income taxes.

Columbia Bible College (the “College”) is a controlled organization that is a registered charity under
the Income Tax Act and as such is exempt from income taxes. The College is incorporated under
the Columbia Bible College Act, S.B.C. 1987.

The purpose of the College is to provide post-secondary education to students from Canada and
other parts of the world. The Conference has the authority to elect a majority of the directors of the
College.

The relevant financial information provided by the College is audited by another firm of Chartered
Professional Accountants and reported separately up to and including April 30, 2018. The College
utilized the deferral method of accounting for contributions, rather than the restricted fund method
used by the Conference. The College reported $2,781,444 of restricted assets at April 30, 2018
(2017 - $2,784,387).

2018 2017

Total Assets $ 14,237,373 $ 14,324,069
Total Liabilities 11,284,881 11,503,305
Net Assets 2,952,492 2,820,764
Revenue 7,383,892 7,269,917
Expenses 7,261,418 7,059,960

         Cash flow from (used by)
Operating Activities 270,853 423,317
Financing Activities 9,254 130,950
Investing Activities (51,152) (290,706)

         The restricted assets of the College are as follows:
Deferred operating contributions 660,591 825,739
Scholarship endowment principal 1,020,989 1,011,735
Deferred revenue 423,626 374,037
Internally restricted - capital reserve 676,238 572,876

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

3. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

The following is a summary of the Conference’s related party revenue (expense) transactions:

2018 2017

         BCMB Bible Camp Society
(significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries $ - $ 99
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (150,000) (18,848)

         Columbia Bible College
(controlled organization)
Recoveries 254 376
Ministry partnerships - bursaries (4,000) (4,000)
Administration (30,592) (27,825)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (315,500) (323,120)

         Campfire Ministries
(significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries - 99
Ministry partnerships - subsidies - (21,848)

         Gardom Lake Bible Camp
(significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries - 316
Ministry partnerships - subsidies - (20,809)

         Stillwood Camp and Conference Centre
(significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries - 921
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (300) (35,809)

         The Pines Bible Camp Association
(significantly influenced organization)
Write-down for uncollectible loan (162,645) -
Recoveries - 1,121
Ministry partnerships - subsidies - (16,309)

         Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches
(related by common membership)
Recoveries 10,553 6,987
Ministry partnerships - grant (10,500) -
Ministry partnerships - subsidies - 350,050
Administration - 408
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

4. CAPITAL ASSETS        
2018 2017

Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value

Computer equipment $ 24,057 $ 11,477 $ 12,580 $ 10,928
Furniture and fixtures 32,494 20,649 11,845 16,860
Leasehold improvements 8,858 3,691 5,167 6,643

$ 65,409 $ 35,817 $ 29,592 $ 34,431

5. CHURCH PROPERTIES    

When a member church ceases activity, the beneficial ownership of the related property returns to
the Conference. During the year, one church ceased activity. The Conference now holds title to four
churches for which no member congregation maintains beneficial ownership. The properties are
held by the Conference for future congregations and were recorded as a direct increase to the
Operating Fund.

Although Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations require such assets to be
recorded at carrying value, the Conference has been unable to determine the carrying value of the
churches at the time the member churches ceased activity. The assets have been included based
on available historical cost information totaling $394,980 (2017 - $179,185). In the current year, a
church property was transferred to the Conference, with an assigned cost of $215,795. The
difference between the historical cost and the current carrying value of the four church properties are
not determinable as of the report date.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

6. RESTRICTED FUNDS          

Opening
Balance Revenue Expenses

Interfund
Transfer
(Note 7)

Closing
Balance

Internally restricted funds consist of:

Camp leadership
bursary $ 10,000 $ - $ - $ - $ 10,000

BCMB ministry
growth 1,000 - - - 1,000

BCMB ministry
support 1,000 - 20,000 19,000 -

$ 12,000 $ - $ 20,000 $ 19,000 $ 11,000

Externally restricted funds consist of:

MBCCA
Association $ 68,090 $ 14,980 $ 24,523 $ - $ 58,547

Camps bursary
fund 11,574 240 - - 11,814

Esperenza
Multicultural
Church 9,465 155 - - 9,620

Chaplaincy trust
fund 2,732 45 - - 2,777

Pastoral emotional
health fund 806 13 819 - -

$ 92,667 $ 15,433 $ 25,342 $ - $ 82,758

7. INTERFUND TRANSFER    

During the year, $19,000 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Internally Restricted BCMB
Ministry Support Fund to cover the deficiency in the fund.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

8. ADMINISTRATION - CONFERENCE

The following is a breakdown of the administrative expenses of the Conference:

2018 2017

Rent $ 27,825 $ 27,835
Accounting 20,311 48,194
Legal 18,400 7,394
Invoiced payments 17,736 31,988
Amortization 11,381 10,458
Computer and software 11,054 9,231
Insurance 10,555 6,727
Advertising and promotion 6,312 4,296
Telephone 5,223 7,291
Printing and postage 5,210 7,787
Office 4,655 10,672
Bank charges and interest 3,648 3,327
Website 3,633 10,758
Loss (gain) on disposal of capital assets 2,764 (500)
Maintenance 2,040 2,742
Bad debt 688 1,055
Systems audit - 7,886

$ 151,435 $ 197,141
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

9. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Conference is liable with respect to mortgages for member churches and camps operating
under its Society loaned from the Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches in the
amount of $21,872,550 (2017 - $14,783,860). The purpose of the loans are to allow the member
churches to acquire land and buildings and for church building construction. The mortgages are
secured by properties in which the Conference has title, but for which beneficial ownership of the
properties resides with the member churches and therefore the related mortgages are considered to
be liabilities of the respective member churches.

During the year, a member church acquired a property including land and building for which the
Conference is the registered borrower on the mortgage agreement for $7,500,000. Beneficial
ownership remains with the member church and the member church is directly making the mortgage
payments to the Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches, the lender. As a result, the
mortgage, asset, and operating costs of the building are all reported in the books of the member
church.

Except as explained below none of the loans are in default and management of the Conference is of
the opinion that the risk to the Conference that it would be required to pay these mortgages is
mitigated by the fair value of the collateral being in excess of the outstanding mortgages.

The property held for the Pines Bible Camp (the “Camp”) has a market value that exceeds the
mortgage amount. Specifically, as at the most recent appraisal date of December 31, 2014 the
property had an appraised value of $1,735,000 whereas the mortgage on the property was $929,112
as at December 31, 2018. The Camp is in arrears in its payments to the mortgagee, the Canadian
Conference of Mennonite Brethren Churches.

10. LEASE COMMITMENT      

The Organization has an operating lease with respect to its premises, which expires on December
31, 2019. The Organization also holds an option to renew this lease for an additional three years at a
renegotiated rate.

Future minimum lease payments over the term of the lease are as follows:

2019 $ 28,660

11. FUNDS HELD IN TRUST    

The Conference holds funds in trust for several member churches. They are solely the property of
the churches and do not accrue in whole or part to the Conference. As at December 31, 2018, the
Conference held $6,019,577 of demand deposits in trust from member churches (2017 - $4,621,830
cash).

12. PENSION PLAN    

The Conference contributes to a pension plan made available to employees of Mennonite Brethren
Churches and agencies. The plan falls under provincial pension legislation and therefore employees
can choose to participate. Contributions are five percent of an employee's gross salary and the
Conference matches this amount. Contributions made by the Conference for the year amounted to
$30,346 (2017 - $28,496). 
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited)

13. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE    

The Conference is dependent on contributions from its member churches to fund a significant
portion of its operations. During the year the Conference received contributions equal to 23% (2017
– 24%) of its Operating Fund revenue from two member churches (2017 - two member churches),
and as such is economically dependent on these organizations for its ongoing operations.

14. REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE    

In accordance with the Societies Act of British Columbia, the Society discloses that the three highest
paid individuals and persons under a contract for services that each exceeded $75,000 of annual
remuneration were paid a total sum of $256,181.

Of the above amount, $23,715 was reimbursed by the BCMB Bible Camp Society for the work that
was done by a Society employee on their behalf.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair market value. Publicly traded equity
instruments quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value with any unrealized
gains or losses and transaction costs recognized in net excess of revenue over expenses.  All other
financial instruments are adjusted for any transaction costs incurred on acquisition and are
subsequently measured at their amortized cost. Financial instrument impairments and impairment
reversals are recognized when incurred in net excess of revenue over expenses.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Conference is exposed to credit risk for its cash equivalents. Exposures to credit risk are as follows:

The cash equivalents are cash deposits held with the Canadian Conference of the
Mennonite Brethren Churches, which is not a financial institution. The deposits are not
government guaranteed or insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, therefore
any financial difficulties encountered by the Canadian Conference of Mennonite Brethren
Churches could adversely affect the collectability and valuation of the deposits.

16. COMPARATIVE FIGURES    

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation.

Specifically, cash deposits with another organization of $71,398 is now presented with cash and
cash equivalents on the Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Non-
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Previously, this amount was included as an investment on
the Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

In  addition, amounts Due from related parties of $150,859 is now presented as a long term asset on
the Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  Previously. this amount was classified as a
current asset on the Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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Minutes for BCMB Convention 2018 
North Langley Community Church – Langley, BC 

Sat, 28 April 2018 – 8:30 pm 
 
 
1. Worship: Cory Alstad (North Langley Community Church) led delegates in worship songs: 

Come Thou Fount of Every Blessing, God With Us. 
 

2. Open: Session called to order at 8:39 am by Matt Ewert (South Abbotsford MB), acting 
moderator. 
 

2.1 Recognition of guests: Elton DaSilva, Conference Minister; Bruce Ens, CCMBC 
Moderator. 
 

2.2 Appointments: M/S/C to appoint the following: 
Reg Toews, Vic Martens, Marilyn Hiebert for Parliamentarians 
Brad Sumner, Herb Thiessen for Minute Review Committee 
Jeff Peters, Gary Simpson, Denis Federau, Andrew Eby for Ballot Review 
Committee 

 
3. Prayer: Matt Ewert led the delegates in prayer for the proceedings. 
 
4. Reports 
 

4.1. Conference Minister Report (Rob Thiessen) (pp 8-9): Rob affirmed the work of 
the BCMB staff. He highlighted the value of the Crisis Management seminar 
coming up in June. Rob encouraged the conference to pray for John Vermeer. He 
stated that the crisis management training has been very helpful for this 
difficulty. Highlights for Rob have included regional meetings, connecting with 
church boards, and meeting with the US BFL. Conversations continue across the 
country as BCMB plays big role in shaping the national conference. 

 
4.2. Director of Resource Ministries Report (Denis Federau) (p 10): “The trouble with 

communication is the illusion that it has taken place.” Denis’ work, which 
involves the important work of policies, development, governance etc. is all 
about relationships and communication. Denis works to understand the history 
and values of each church that he meets with. The need for churches to 
transition to the new Societies Act compliance allows Denis to help churches 
clarify how they want to relate and work together. Denis is available to help with 
questions about HR, finances, mortgages, budgets, donations, governance, legal, 
constitution and bylaws.  
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4.3. Crisis Management Seminar (Denis Federau): please consider attending 
the Crisis Management Workshop on June 13-14, 2018 with Anna Marie 
White. Excellent resource for readiness in times of crisis (communication, media, 
preparedness, etc.). 

 
4.4.  Responses: Matt Ewert entertained questions from delegates. No questions or 

comments. Eldon Fehr led the delegates through a time of response in prayer, 
framed by the Lord’s Prayer.  

 
4.5. ETEQ (Kristen Corrigan): ETEQ is a French-language seminary in Quebec, a 

partnership between two denominations, Christian and Missionary Alliance MA 
and Mennonite Brethren. Its mission is to be a school rooted in the ongoing 
collaborative effort of evangelical church families to provide university-level 
education in service to Christian communities so that men and women may be 
equipped to serve Christ in the ever-changing context of Quebec and the world. 
Kristen shared a video that featured a pastor and graduate of ETEQ whose 
church is working with Haitian asylum seekers. In Fall 2018, English theology 
courses will be offered at a French-speaking seminary, as requested by Laval 
University. Kristen invites churches to encourage students with French language 
education to come to QC for a semester of theological training in a French-
speaking context. 

 
4.6. Moderator’s Report (Matt Ewert) (pp 6-7). Printed report submitted with Sharon 

Simpson. ME highlighted the Strategic Planning Day on March 8, in which 18 
pastors were invited from a variety of church contexts/sizes to help identify 
strengths and gaps in the ministry of BCMB. Results included high affirmation of 
BCMB staff team. Top five gaps:  

(1) BCMB Structure not sufficiently reflective of its members.  
(2) Stereotypes of “Mennonite” brand are an obstacle to mission. 
(3) Governance structure not sufficiently responsive or understood.  
(4) “Old-school” communication could be improved.  
(5) Partner agency relationships strained, especially CCMBC.  

The Board will test these themes further. Matt also read a statement, responding 
to a recent email from “Concerns Committee,” addressing disagreements around 
camps, expressing common agreement of BCMB and CC that renewing trust and 
relationship is best done outside of Convention context. BCMB and CC share a 
high value for camp ministry.  

 
4.6.1. Motion (by BCMB Board): That the BC Conference of Mennonite 

Brethren Churches close Grace MB Church, in Penticton and release 
them from membership effective May 20, 2018. Discussion: Herb 
Neufeld (North Langley) More info? Ron vanAkker (BCMB): The 
congregation has shrunk to point of needing a restart. A new work will 
begin there in the future, with many of Grace MB members leaning in. 
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David Esau (Eagle Ridge). Can we find a way to record the 
ministry of a church as it closes as a way of celebrating and 
acknowledge ministry faithfulness? Answer: see 6.2.  M/S/C  

4.6.2. Motion (by BCMB Board): That the BC Conference of Mennonite 
Brethren Churches welcome The Shore Church as a member church 
within BCMB. M/S/C 

4.6.3. Nomination Slate: Moved / Seconded: to approve the nominees for 
Board and Committee members as presented. Delegates completed 
the ballots which were submitted to the Ballot Review Committee. 

4.6.4. Questions were entertained. None were offered. Matt Ewert prayed. 
5. Break 

 
6. Further Clarifications: 

  
6.1. Re: Published motion on constitution and bylaws: Though we are not approving 

the new Constitution and Bylaws, our Constitution is in compliance with the new 
Societies Act. Bylaws are still in development and will be brought to the 
conference in time for Convention 2019.   

6.2. Grace MB Church: Rob Thiessen took a moment to acknowledge and hear from 
Pastor Blake and Linda from Grace MB Church. May 20th there will be a huge 
celebration of what God has done through Grace. Blake expressed his gratitude 
to Rob Thiessen and Ron vanAkker for their support through the difficulty of 
closure.  

 
7. Stewardship Committee Report (Harvey Schmidt, Denis Federau) (p 38): Upon investigating 

competitive quotes for church insurance, the SC has concluded that our present carrier 
provides the most competitive and affordable rate for us. HS provided some examples of 
the advantages offered to churches through this agreement. Additionally, establishing a 
separate society for camps has increased the scope of available coverage for our camps, 
based on liability ratios. DF made comments based on p 51 Report – The Conference is 
pleased to meet with churches (pastors, boards) to explain the ways that funds are used. 
Many churches could give more toward the work of the conference.  

 
7.1. Financial Report (Loewen Kruse): LK has provided a “clean” report. Look at 

Balance Sheet p 56 to note. Most properties are the assets of the Conference. 
Most are not on the books because they are on the churches’ books, but if the 
church closes it comes back to the Conference (see note 5). P 58 (income 
statement) – operating fund. An $18,000 loss is a “break even” situation. 
Affirmation of Stewardship Committee for keeping things in check. Highlighted 
various notes, p 60 and on are required notes for standard accounting practices.  
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7.1.1. Motion (BCMB Board): That the financial statements, prepared 
by Loewen Kruse Chartered Accountants for the fiscal year 
2017, be approved as presented. M/S/C 

7.1.2. Motion (BCMB Board): That we appoint Loewen Kruse Chartered 
Accountants for the fiscal year 2018, be approved as presented. M/S/C 

7.1.3. Motion (BCMB Board): That the 2019 income budget for the churches’ 
support, through their Ministry Commitment, be set at 1,600,000. 
M/S/C 

 
8. Canadian Conference Report/Proposal (Bruce Ens, CCMBC Moderator; Pastor, Forest Grove 

Community Church) (p 12-13): On behalf of Steve Berg. Gratitude to Matt Ewert and Sharon 
Simpson for their work on the CCMBC board. Affirmed RT’s message at banquet as a 
reminder that we are part of something bigger! What is our “life’s work” (Ephesians 3 
MSG)? The Board and staff are working on the “big rocks” of the conference work, now 
shifting to the image of “wells” (Genesis 26) – digging up wells from his father Abraham and 
new wells with “honest names” – representing a time of multiplication and blessing. We are 
being invited to a season of new wells and open space. Proposing a collaborative model. 
  

8.1. Video was presented, explaining the new national proposal. 
8.2. Paul Loewen – the new proposed structure may appear somewhat complicated, 

but it’s much simpler than what it has been in the past. We are actually having 
conversations across the provinces to talk about how we can work together 
nationally. God is working! 

8.3. Elton DaSilva (Manitoba): For convention delegates this is new information, but it 
is also the result of 2 years of conversation and discernment, and this is the best 
idea so far.  

8.3.1. It is important to acknowledge the great resources that we have as an 
MB family – 250 churches, 37,000 members, 6 provincial conferences, 
1 national conference, national and provincial agencies. But this also 
means that with growth there is a need for adjustments, because of 
silos, competition, redundancies, regionalization, disconnections, 
budget constraints, etc.  

8.3.2. Eight proposals for a national work:  
• working together for national impact;  
• provincial conferences coordinating and delivering services locally;  
• single-stream conference support to provinces;  
• national budget and projects approved at provincial assemblies;  
• national director, provincial and agency leaders form national 

ministry team;  
• provincial boards form national assembly;  
• provincial F&L teams form a national F&L team;  
• national assembly elects Assembly executive. 
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8.3.3. Proposed Organizational Chart 
 

8.3.4. Four Core Service Model: 4 services running on the two tracks of a 
collaborative approaching and unified structure. 

8.3.5. So why do we need a national conference?  
• A National Denominational Identity: Confession of Faith, Federal 

Charter, Credentialing and Religious Affiliation. 
• National Mission: MB Mission/C2C/MB Seminary/CCMBC Legacy 

Fund Inc.; Supporting work in Quebec, Atlantic Canada, Indigenous 
communities (which are under-resourced). 

• National Partnerships: USMB Conference, Historical 
Commission/CMBS, ICOMB, MWC/MCC/EFC. 

8.4. JP shared an overview of the results of the survey, which contributed to the 
formation of the proposal: Developed with all partner agencies. 21 questions (3 
open ended) + 9 demographic; 720 responses (comp. 745 for MB Herald). 2300 
comments and answers. Very good distribution for region, age, church, 
attendance, roles, etc. BC Participation was 24%.  Conclusions: 

• Strong support for mission statement and greater collaboration at 
denomination, conference and partner agency levels. 

• Churches feel it is important to be part of both the national and provincial 
conferences. 

• Provincial conferences are viewed as having a better understanding of 
church needs and as being better stewards of resources than the national 
conference. 

• The provincial conferences are looked to as the primary contact for all four 
services.  

• All MB partner organizations have something to offer under multiple 
services in the model. 



BCMB CONVENTION 2019

78 OPEN DOORS & ADVERSARIES

 
 

 
8.5. Questions/Comments were brought forward  

 
9. Responding in Prayer (Eldon Fehr): Delegates were led in a time of prayer, structured 

around the Lord’s Prayer, for the reports presented since the last time of prayer. 
 
10. Columbia Bible College Report (Brian Born, President): Brian shared an email he received 

from Danny Friesen, who expressed his deep faith and desire that God would use his 
mother’s illness to bring glory to Christ and to spread the gospel. An example of the quality 
of students that are at the school.  

• CBC’s aims are to be Christ-centred, kingdom-focused, world-impacting. 
Enrollment numbers are increasing, but these are individuals, each with their 
own stories and questions. Many more coming with mental health challenges. 
Pray for CBC as they disciple and train up this next generation of leadership.  

• Upon threat from Ministry of Advanced Education to remove academic 
credentials due to degrees not being “theological” enough, CBC has 
strengthened its vision to focus their programs on “Practical Theology.”  

• A very high percentage of students who interview for the President’s leadership 
group have had their initial experience of discipleship at camps – a great 
partnership.  

• Programs: Two new programs in Social Entrepreneurship and Applied 
Leadership, graduating some great students who are passionate about Jesus. 
Intentional discipleship through the Quest and Columbia One programs.  

• #ChurchToo conference, on the theme of “responding to professional sexual 
misconduct,” coming up in May. 60 people registered already. 

 
11. MB Seminary (Mark Messner): by most metrics, the Seminary is doing quite well. When a 

runner is trying to complete an ultra-marathon, it’s essential to have aid stations. Seminary 
provides resources as aid stations in the midst of the long haul of ministry. The vision is our 
country, our world, transformed by Jesus, through healthy and vibrant churches and 
ministries, filled with biblically-articulate, mission-focused, Spirit-led, and theologically-
trained pastors and leaders… 250 churches, more than 550 pastors, 1500+ elders, and 
countless ministry leaders with theological education and ministry training. Craig Thiessen 
(co-lead Ross Road), a recent graduate of MB Seminary, shared his story of receiving 
excellent theological and practical training for church ministry. He shared his inspiration, 
from 1 Corinthians 15:52.  
 

12. Pastoral Ministries Committee (Paul Lam) (p 14-15): Paul expressed the committee’s 
gratitude to be able to serve. Nearly 20 people were credentialed this past year. Encourage 
individuals who could be credentialed to download the application package from the 
website, begin the process; supervisors are encouraged to help prepare their staff for the 
interview, going over questions with their team member before they go in there, so that 
they can be successful. Holly McLean (Ross Road) shared her experience of going through 
the credentialing process (an 18-month process).  
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13. Responses: Matt Ewert invited questions or comments. None were offered. Eldon 

Fehr continued to lead us in prayer regarding the previous three reports. 
  
14. MB Mission & C2C Combined Reports (Gord Fleming): Chris and Diane Douglas are moving 

to Oklahoma to spear-head MB church planting in the US. Mark Birch is now North 
American Director of church planting. Ron Leonard is now Associate Director for Canada. 
Kris Martens and Reg Toews are now joining the C2C team in BC. The MB Mission/C2C 
merger was affirmed in November and became official as of January. 

14.1. Local Mission (Ron Leonard): 11 MB church plants, 5 MB apprentices, additional 
partnerships with various agencies. We plant churches because of the need – 5 
million in BC, 2.5 million in lower mainland, and most don’t know Jesus. The 
team prays together at 10:02 am, based on Luke 10:2 – do we believe that the 
harvest is plentiful? Pray with them! 

14.2. Short Team Mission (Fred Sutherland): Vision is to partner with the local church 
to develop vision and missional capacity to bring people to know Jesus. The 
target area is teens – GO (1 day), SOAR (10 day), ACTION (6 weeks), TREK (10 
months). Great programs that help to disciple young people for mission! 

14.3. National Mission (Mark Birch): Affirmation of 120-year legacy of church planting, 
which is looked to by many other evangelical denominations for resources and 
training. We need to plant at 3% of our population in order to hold at zero, 6% to 
grow, 10% for momentum. Praying for francophone church planters to work in 
Quebec. Only 3 churches in Atlantic provinces – more planters are needed. Each 
denomination funds its own church plants, i.e. MB contributions go to MB 
churches.  

14.4. Mobilization Resourcing (Larry Neufeld): 170 churches engaged in sending 
workers overseas on mission from Canada. How does this impact the local 
churches in Canada? 700 young adults involved in some kind of missional 
engagement, all over the world. Collaboration is a word on the heart of God 
(prophetic word?). When you move toward collaboration, God’s Spirit gets 
released in new ways! 

14.5. Provincial (Gord Fleming): BC, with the number of the resources that we have, 
has a responsibility to think about the rest of the country – the needs in Quebec 
($2500 set aside for church planting) and Atlantic Canada (3 plants in 4 
provinces). These places matter! 

14.6. Global (Greg Laing): The mission has shifted, “From everywhere to everywhere.” 
We are not only going to the ends of the earth, but the ends of the earth are 
coming to us! Collaboration is an essential part of success. E.g. 
Thailand/Myanmar partnership - 4790 people heard the gospel, 2273 received 
Christ, 156 baptized on the spot, and lots of follow-up.  

14.7. Gord Fleming: Shared a story about what God is doing through MB Mission to 
inspire a passion for the gospel and for church planting in Germany. A pastoral 
couple from Ontario now called to plant a church in Germany. 
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14.8. Selwyn Uittenbosch (CFO for C2C): “And 3000 were added to their 
number that day” (Acts). How could the number 3000 might change our 
prayers? Are we ready to pray for that, with all that it entails? Know the moment 
we’re in and the mission we’re on.  

 
15. Camps (Denis Federau): The report began with a short video on the importance of camp 

ministry from the perspective of some camp directors.  
15.1. Testimony – Rikk Kieft (Gardom Lake) and Richard (student) shared stories about 

children they work with – some who come to faith at camp. 
15.2. Testimony – David Seeley (Stillwood) shared story of how God led his family to 

Stillwood, the process of listening, being silent and waiting for God to lead. 
Reminder that Camps are our partners in the work of communicating the gospel 
to our kids, and in developing leaders for our churches. Encouragement to 
remain committed to that PARTNERSHIP. 

15.3. Testimony – Les Klassen (Campfire Ministries/Camp Bob) shared story of a 
student who had been growing through camp, and then dropped off the map. 
Picking up an old camp journal led him back to camp and back to his faith. 
Students come back to camp because it’s a safe place, a place to “come home” 
to. Also, a story of God’s answer to prayer for rock climbing staff – became a 
faith booster for Les and for his 8 year old granddaughter. 

15.4. Testimony – Kate Reid (Camp Likely) shared her experience of God’s faithfulness 
through the hardships of cancelling camp due to forest fires. A young camper 
had come from a very conservative and legalistic background, God worked in her 
life and opened her life up to the Holy Spirit and she made herself available for 
camp work – and then camp cancelled. She and other staff went to Pines for the 
summer. This young woman is extremely excited to come now and share what 
God has done in her life! Pray that camp will not be cancelled so that she (and 
others like her) can come to share what God is doing. Cariboo Bethel has made a 
bursary available for campers whose families were affected by the fires last year. 
10 kids signed up so far! 

15.5. Testimony – DF asked for prayer for Ryley and Nicole Heppner (Pines). Nicole’s 
father is in a coma. Also pray for Pines’ financial and rebuilding needs. 

 
The harvest is plentiful, and camps are a very important place where that harvest happens! 
Keep praying for our camps, visit them, and support them! 

 
16. Responses/Comments 

• James Nikkel: Recognition of Harry Edwards and John Redekop for their hard work and 
partnership in leading Stillwood Camp. 

• Eldon Fehr led the delegates once more in prayer and thanksgiving for God’s work in 
these important ministries.  

• Herb Neufeld: Asked the BCMB Executive to offer a formal acknowledgement of Harry 
Edwards and John Redekop. Matt Ewert responded. 
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17. Motion: That all ministry reports be approved. M/S/C 
 
18. Nomination Results: All names approved as presented. 
 
19. Closing Remarks – Sharon Simpson (new Moderator): Sharon shared the many ways that 

the BCMB family, especially camps, has had a deep impact on her own family. She also 
shared the meaningful experience she has had serving on the MCC-BC board, and reminded 
us that we accomplish in our lifetime only a small part of God’s work. “We are workers, not 
master builders; ministers, not messiahs; we are prophets of a future not our own.”  

 
19.1. Motion: To destroy ballots. M/S/C 
 
19.2. Moment of appreciation for Matt Ewert, retiring moderator. Acknowledging his 

ministry of humility, strong moral compass, resilience in difficulty. 
 
19.3. Thanks: 

To North Langley Community Church for hosting. 
To BCMB staff for their work on this Convention 
To delegates for attendance and participation. 

 
20. Meeting was adjourned at 3:25 pm. 
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